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PROCEEDTINGS

THE BAILIFF: All rise.

be seated.

morning.

case, please?

with the State, please.

State Attorney's Office.

THE CQURT: And for Defense?

MR. TEIFKE: And Maria Ford.

MS. FORD: Good morning.

joined us in court this morning.

Good morning, sir. Mr. --

THE DEFENDANT: Good morning.

THE COURT: All right. Good morning. Please

All right. We have a full courtroom this

All right. Madam clerk, will you call our

THE CLERK: Brendan Depa, 2023-CF-183.

THE COURT: All right. Let me have counsel

make their appearance on the record. We'll start first

MS. CLARK: Melissa Clark on behalf of the

MR. TEIFKE: Kurt Teifke, Judge.

THE COURT: All right. Good morning.

THE COURT: All right. Good morning.

THE COURT: And I see Mr. Depa is here and

THE COURT: Did you have a chance to meet with
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your client this morning?

MR. TEIFKE: I did.

THE COURT: Okay.

All right. So when we stopped the phase one,
if you will, of the sentencing hearing, I believe that
we had concluded the State's expert at that time. So
we are still in the State's case, I believe.

Ms. Clark.

MS. CLARK: I don't have any further witnesses
at this time other than possible rebuttal.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. Very good.

Mr. Teifke, are you ready to proceed?

MR. TEIFKE: I am, Judge. The first witness
is Leanne Depa.

THE CLERK: Can you raise your right hand?

Do you swear or affirm the testimony you're
about to give is the truth, the whole truth, and
nothing but the truth, so help you God?

THE WITNESS: I do.

THEREUPON,
LEANNE DEPA,
called by the Defense as a witness, was duly sworn
and testified as follows:
THE COURT: Mr. Teifke.

MR. TEIFKE: Thank you, Your Honor.
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DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. TEIFKE:

Q Can you state your name, please?

A Leanne Depa.

Q Okay. And you are Brendan's mother?

A I am Brendan's mother.

0 Okay. Where do you live, generally?

A I live in near Tampa.

Q Near Tampa?

A Uh-huh.

0 What is the current household composition?
A Currently, it's my husband and me and my

24-year-old son.

0 Okay. And how long have you lived there,
ma'am?

A About 20 years.

Q Twenty years.

What do you do for work?

A I'm an occupational therapist.

0 Okay. What is that?

A It depends on what environment you work in.
I originally worked with children with medical
disabilities, children --

Q Okay.

A -— that have cerebral palsy, require oxygen,
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ventilators, and things like that.

Q How long have you done that?

A Over 30 years.

Q Thirty years. Okay.

Tell me how Brendan came into your life.

A Brendan came into my life through foster
care, that we were looking to adopt. We had already
adopted once. He was -- he was like five months old
when we got him.

Q Okay. What, if anything, at that point did
you learn about his biological mother or otherwise his
upbringing?

A At that point I knew that Brendan had been in
hiding, that somebody -- when he was born, he was
supposed to be taken from his birth mother and placed
in a foster care. We had had his sister. And they --
they snuck him, and they hid him with the family. I do
know during that time that his father had severely beat
his mother when he was like two weeks old. So I know
he was like in a really unstable environment for the
first five months.

He hadn't had his vaccinations, hadn't been do
a doctor. Nothing had been done.
Q Are these all the reasons he's even in the

foster care system, correct?
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A Prior children had been taken before. And so
he was supposed to be taken at the hospital and
immediately put into foster care.

Q Okay. Do you have any specific information
at this time about any mental health disorders, issues,
with his biological mother?

A Not at that time.

Q Or --

A I found out later on, but not at that time.

Q Okay. And we now, of course, and we'll talk

about 1t, have several diagnoses for Brendan.

A Uh-huh.
0 But at this time, you're none the wiser, so
to speak?

A Oh, no.

Q All right.

A Huh-uh.

Q I want to kind of chronologically go through
this for the judge. So as a young child --

A Uh-huh.

0 -— that's from the time you get into the

kindergarten-ish --

A Uh-huh.
Q -—- what type of kid was he?
A He -- he -- he was -- not that children
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aren't needy, but he needed a lot of attention, that he
cried a lot and constantly needed to be comforted.

When he went to daycare, he struggled in daycare, that
if he was there for any longer than, you know, four
hours or so, I would get a call to come pick him up,

that the noise was really difficult for him there, all

the -- the activity of the kids around him was really
difficult.

Q Okay. The environment of daycare?

A Yeah, the environment of daycare was -- he --

he struggled majorly with that. T would frequently get
calls to come pick him up.

Q All right.

A We had one daycare when he was four that I
put him in, that it was recommended, this program
called the Tucker Turtle Program that USF had
developed, where 1t was a different type of daycare
where they focused in on, you know, social-emotional
needs. The teachers all wore bracelets to show the
children what they could do i1f they got upset. There
were posters all over the walls. It was a totally
different kind of daycare than the average daycare.
And he -- he did well there.

Q SO there —-- there's been --

A I —-
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Q -- certaln interventions from a very early
age, 1t sounds like?

A Uh-huh.

0 What else can you tell us about, like, his
temperament and personality, to the extent that a
five-year-old has that?

A He just, you know, his emotions were always
really big, that if something was funny, it was
hysterical, Jjust these big belly laughs. And if
something was upsetting, he could just sob and sob and
sob. He could easily get overwhelmed and have a
meltdown. Frequently it seemed like, and I couldn't
grasp what was going on, but frequently it seemed like
hunger and having to go to the bathroom. He wouldn't
be able to interpret those signals, and he would
starting acting out. And then, you know, when you
would get ahold of him and -- and grab him, he'd say,
I'm hungry, I'm hungry, I'm hungry or I've got to pee,
I've got to pee, I've got to pee.

And so he frequently, his -- just things going
on inside of his body would cause him to act out.

Q See, these are things that I'm -- it sounds
to me, like struck you as atypical --

A Uh-huh.

Q -- and that need to be addressed, right?
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A Right.
0 What other sort of interventions, if any, at
this point were -- were needed, were sought after?

A Well, I tried using all my skills as an OT,
the things that I knew. When I took him to daycare, T
would do sensory brushing with him before I dropped him
off. And I would do joint compressions. And I would
educate the staff.

And then T -- T pulled in other occupational
therapists and speech therapists. I tried taking him
to a chiropractor. I took him, and we -- we worked
with different diets.

Q Okay. And just remind me of what age
specifically we're talking about right now.
A It all kind of runs together. You have to

forgive me.

Q Sure.
A I mean, this has been a lot of years.
But this, all this was around, you know -- T

mean, we were constantly trying. So, you know,
probably between the ages of -- of like three and, you

know, all the way up. We never stopped.

Q Very early on?
A Yeah.
0 Okay. What diagnoses, 1f any, were made at
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this time?

A At that time, ADHD and mood -- mood disorder.

I can't think of the name -- I can't think of the DMDD.
0 Disruptive mood dysregulation?
A Uh-huh, yeah.
0 Okay. And -- and that is that --
A That actually -- that actually was not made

until he was almost five, that diagnosis, when I first
took him to a psychiatrist.

Q All right. But certainly, ADHD is implicated
early here?

A Uh-huh.

Q Anything else?

A No. And, you know, and at that time, too, I
-— I didn't know 1f 1t was adoption-related stuff, that
when I got him, he was sickly. He was, you know, just
needed a constant -- a lot of attention. I -- he
needed to be held all the time. So I didn't know what
was adoption-related, what was, you know, anything
else. And -- and I --

Q Sure.

A And being an OT, I was not one to want to put
labels. I wanted to work on what was the issue and how
to help him get what he needs versus labels. Because

at that time labels were not a good thing to have.

@ ESQUIRE 800.211.DEPO (3376)

DEROSITION SOLUTIONS EsquireSolutions.com



oy O W N

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

APPEAL SENTENCING HEARING Continued August 06, 2024
SOF V. BRENDAN DEPA 169

Q
A

Q

A

You know,

Q

A

Q
A
Q
A

but he couldn't swallow pills. And we had a hard time
finding any medication that he could take. That they

had, at that time, had said, you know, maybe Abilify,

that that could be sprinkled. And then I read all the
side effects on Abilify, and I want him to go on it

because the -- the side effects were too scary.

DMDD, the subsequent diagnosis, what -- besides what
you've described, what did this look 1like to the
untrained eye?

zero to a hundred in a second, that, you know, he could

just be totally fine. And then you wouldn't -- you

wouldn't know why, and all of a sudden he would react.

some sort of engagement with --

issue for him. I remember that there was a little girl

Was medication a part of the mix at this age?

Not until -- we tried at four, almost five,

The ADHD and then bleeding into I guess the

I mean, 1t jJust could -- he could go from

usually like with another child, you know.

Okay. It -- it -- 1t was usually a factor of

Yeah.

-— persons or environments?
Yeah.

All right.

I do like, you know, noise was always a big
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that was yelling and screaming and -- and on the
ground, you know, crying at daycare. And they -- he
went over and told her, he was tell -- putting his

hands over his ears and telling her, be quiet, be
guiet, be quiet. And then when she wouldn't quit
screaming, he kicked her.

Q Okay. You alluded to daycare and how that

didn't seem to have any sort of, you know, enduring

success.
A Uh-huh.
0 At some point he had to tap out basically —--
A Right.
Q -— right?

And can the same be said for early school
years? Did you try him in school?

A I tried him. So like, after he had had a
successful -- after he had the successful period at the
one daycare that, like I said, was geared -- that was
structured for his needs, he was going to go to a
charter school. And I had an evaluation done by a
school psychologist. And I brought it to the charter
school asking, you know, them to read it and to see
what we saw so they knew how to work with him.

And I got a call the first day to come pick

him up. And I got called in like three times that week
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to come get him. And I -- so I went and I got him and
I brought him home and I put him into the public school
and tried there. And he didn't last until even
October. I went to the school volunteering to read on
a particular day. And I was in the school. And I
could see all the kids were like shoving each other and
handsy and everything like that. And I know how he
just, he doesn't handle that.

Q Okay.

A And -- and on the way back to class, the kids
were shoving and stuff. And he got back to class, and
he started running around knocking over all the chairs
and the tables. And -- and they called me to classroom
where T helped to corral him. And I sat down on the
floor and just held him.

0 Okay. So when you -- when you say, this
didn't last until October, are you talking about it

began in September, and then it gets into October --

A Yeah.

Q -— before it --

A Like, he only --

Q -- fails?

A -— lasted --

Q SO —-—

A -— like a couple months. We -- we tried all
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kinds of things. He failed -- they had -- like, the
school psychologist would come and pick him up and take
him around the school with her and, you know, walk him
around to try to help him, you know, regulate. I went
in and I, you know, had like bands tied around the
bottom of his -- of his chair so he could push against
him and do stuff to try to help calm him down, but I
could just see that he never did well with children
that are pushing each other and that are handsy and
that are -- you know, he just didn't do well in that

environment at all. And I knew I had to pull him out.

0 And then the noise, as well?
A And the noise. Yeah, the noise was major.
0 So 1t sounds like you attempted some

lay-interventions, and --

A Uh-huh.

Q -— there was also some professional
attempted --

A Uh-huh.

Q -— 1interventions?

A Uh-huh.

0 Both to no success?

A Right.

Q All right. $So you -- at that point you take

him out of school?
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A I take him out of school.

Q Is there an effort at homeschooling?

A Yeah. So we -- we started with -- I worked
very part time. I only worked like 15 hours a week.
And I had a college student who was helping me. And so
when I was working, she would be with him. And he did
really well during that time when it was him and me or
-— or him and the babysitter. A lot of, 1like, learning
through listening to DVDs and --

Q Right.

A -— CDs in the car. And he -- he loved to
work with me. He was great.

Q Is -- 1s the narrow engagement with others
what you think most mattered there, or was 1t something
else? Was 1t the comfort of the, you know, being home?
What was 1t that, your estimation, that worked?

A I think it was decreasing the noise level and
-- and taking him away from the environment with the,
just the busyness. You know, busyness on the walls.
Busyness with the kids. Busyness with the bushing.
And, you know, at that age kids are very hands-on with
each other.

0 Had you seen enough at this point from the
experiment of going to public school to handicap it as

something that likely would never work?
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A Yeah, I didn't ever want to put him back in
public school.

Q All right. All right. So he's -- it sounds
like there's some success —-

A Uh-huh.

0 -— with homeschooling.

A Uh-huh.

0 How else is he doing? How, otherwise, was he
doing at home during this time?

A He's still like, you know, like he still
would have his moments to where I would have to
intervene, you know, which mostly him and his siblings,
but I mean, you know, and -- you know, I tried a lot of
different things with him. I tried all kinds of like
reward systems. And, you know, I had him involved in
co-op classes. I took him around other children.

In that environment where you had a bunch of
moms all there that were with their kids and
controlling their kids, he did pretty good, but it was
smaller. T typically put him with younger children or
with teens. So he was never really age -- with his age

group a whole lot.

Q Okay.
A He was more with either older or younger
people.
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And -- and then I picked classes that he was
interested in versus something that would be difficult

for him to be with the others.

Q Sure. And then academically, how -- how did
he do?
A Academically, he -- so he definitely has his

strengths. That he was reading before he turned four.
He could write 1in complete sentences. He became

fascinated with the dictionary. And his vocabulary

guickly surpassed mine. He -- he -- he was constantly
reading. And he -- and I -- I -- I could get him to
sit down and -- and work for me, and he did great.

Q Now, during these years, they -- let's call

them the early homeschool years, are there still
medical interventions, the medication, counseling, 1S
there any of that in play at this point?

A Not so much counseling, but, you know, taking
him to -- you know, again, continuing with occupational
therapy. I became certified in therapeutic listening.
I would use therapeutic listening device with him.
Continuing taking him to somebody who counseled us on
the nutrition and what to put into his diet and not put
into his diet. With that -- with the chiropractor.

You know, we kept trying all kinds of things --

Q All right.
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A -- during that time.
0 Were there any additional diagnoses beyond

ADHD and the DMDD at that point during these years?

A I think anxiety and OCD also got added in
during that time.

Q Okay. And it -- 1t might seem obvious, but
like how did -- what did that look like to the
untrained eye?

A One of the things that he was doing all the
time 1s he was constantly picking his skin. He would
pick his skin to the point to where he would bleed.

And he just was always really anxious. Like, he had to
know what we were doing before we did it, you know.
And -- and just, you know, you could -- you could never
do anything by surprise. It always -- he always had to
know things ahead of time what was going to happen.

He had a lot of fears. He was afraid of
flies. And the sound of flies would drive him insane.

Q Uh-huh.

A He was afraid of stickers on bananas. He was
afraid of if there was a sticker on the floor. Or 1if
there was like a -- my daughter had these little black
rubber bands. If they were on the floor, he was afraid
of them. So he had a lot of fears.

0 Okay. And so what interventions on offer
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there besides not buying bananas? I mean, like what --
how do you deal with that?

A T just, I thought a lot out of the box. And
I would do stuff like try to find something that was a
reenforcer for him to earn by -- I would put stickers
on the floor or I would put rubber bands on the floor
and try to get him like, you know, you can earn this if
you can pick up this many stickers or if you can pick
up this many rubber bands, you know, but kind of along
those lines.

Q It -- 1t sounds like a very specific
knowledge of Brendan 1s necessary to kind of modulate

all this, right?

A Uh-huh.

Q Is that fair?

A Yeah, absolutely.

Q What about autism?

A Uh-huh.

0 When was he diagnosed?

A Well, they -- you know, some of the
medications they wanted to put him on for autism --
from the age of four was for autism. And the ones that
I didn't want -- and I remember at that time the
psychiatrist saying something about autism. And I

didn't want her to put that in the notes for the
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insurance company and everything, that at that time I
still felt like autism was such a harmful diagnosis
for, you know, following along with you throughout
life, that -- and the fact that we were homeschooling
him, I didn't really want him to have that diagnosis.
Q Okay. So whether or not you wanted it
reduced to paper --
A Uh-huh.
-— you observed those --
Uh-huh.

-- characteristics that are --

Q
A
Q
A Yeah.
0 -— consistent --
A The --
0 -— with that?
A The sensory issues. The being inflexible in
his thought process, everything black-and-white. Yeah.
Q So as we're progressing here --
THE COURT: Mr. Teifke --
MR. TEIFKE: Yeah.
THE COURT: -- let me interrupt you for just a
second.
MR. TEIFKE: Sure.
THE COURT: I apologize.

So on the Zoom connection, we have a
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Dr.

Schlepper.

the bottom.

be on Zoom, but no --

sure that wasn't an expert witness you were expecting

to testify.

you.

there's been a bunch of behavioral analysts that have
been following this. And so a lot of them have their

doctorate degrees. It's probably one of them.

MR. TEIFKE: What's the last name, Judge?

THE COURT: Schlepper. If you look third from

MR. TEIFKE: Okay.
THE COURT: 1Is that a witness? Schlepper.
MR. TEIFKE: Schlepper, no.

I have Dr. Julie Harper as a witness who will

THE COURT: Okay.
MR. TEIFKE: -- other expert.

THE COURT: All right. I just wanted to make

It's not for you, as well?

MS. CLARK: No, not my witness.
THE COURT: Okay.

MR. TEIFKE: Huh-uh.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. Very good thank

MR. TEIFKE: All right. Sure.

THE WITNESS: If I can say something? That
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THE COURT: Okay. Sure. I mean, 1t's a --
it's an open proceeding. I just wanted to make sure
that it wasn't going to -- we weren't accidentally
admitting people that were going to be --

MR. TEIFKE: Uh-huh.

THE COURT: -- testifying in the case without
the attorneys knowing.

MR. TEIFKE: Sure. Thank you, Judge.

THE COURT: Uh-huh.

BY MR. TEIFKE:
0 So how is home life, otherwise, during these

-— these years, the homeschooling years?

A We -- you know, so I started off with him,
just him.

Q Uh-huh.

A And then I was taken into a lot of co-op

programs, and we got involved with other homeschool
families where we were wanting to do stuff like go
camping and -- and, you know, do things to bring the
children and families together. And so I was
struggling with getting my other kids in time from
school and everything. And so I pulled them to -- to
pull them out and started homeschooling them, as well.
And --

Q Okay.
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A And that became more of a challenge, trying
to homeschool three children and get three children to
various co-ops and things like that.

Q Sure.

A But again, everybody -- everybody just kind
of knew Brendan and kind of watched out for him. You
know, you had the mothers that watched out for him.

You know, multiple homeschool mothers who knew him and
watched out for him, ones we even went to church with
and that would sit and hold his hand in church and
stroke his hand in church, get him a blanket and cover
him up in church. So we had a very tight homeschool
community that we were involved with that -- that
really helped to support us, as a family.

0 Okay. Now at this point, I suppose here into
2016, '17, '18-ish, are there any medications that are
being attempted with Brendan?

A We had tried like various like ADHD-type meds
as he got to where he could swallow, but he had some
horrible side effects from them. There was a
particular medication where he felt like he was being
swarmed by flies, which was one of his biggest fears.
And he would have to wear a towel or a hoodie over his
head and hold it on real tight. The doctor, instead of

taking him off the medication, prescribed us to giving
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50 milligrams of Benadryl along with 1t.

Q Okay.
A So we eventually moved away from meds because
we could jJust see the meds were -- at that time what

was avallable was, 1t was causing so many side effects
like that.

0 So no single medication, in and of itself, or
any combination of medications --

A At that time, but we were still real limited
because of his age, you know, what could be given and
also limited. And, you know, Jjust that when he would
try something, he would Just have a severe reactions to
it.

Q And what sort of doctors, or professionals,
are 1n his life at this point? Is there a primary
care? Is there other --

A He had a psychiatrist. He had primary care.
He had a psychiatrist at that point.

Q Is there -- was he ever prescribed, by the
psychiatrist, any sort of medication, antipsychotic
medication, anything like that?

A Yeah. So in 2017, my family went through a

major crisis. I had avoided, like, all of the -- I had
avoided all of the -- the scarier medications that had
been recommended until that happened. That my -- my
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mother, I could feel, was dying. I didn't know what
was wrong with her. I was trying to figure 1t out.
After months of going back and forth, figuring out she
had pancreatic cancer.

So I was dividing my week between my parents'
home, four hours away, and my home. Trying to still
homeschool. Trying to still help my mom, save my mom.
And so she had to have a couple of hospital stays. At
that same time -- at the same time, my -- my daughter,
she had a mass in her brain, and she had to have
emergency surgery to have it removed.

Q And this is 2018, '17, '18 --

A Yeah, '17 --

Q -— or something?
A -—- '18, it was all just kind of back to back.
And after her surgery, she was —-- she was more

impulsive. And so I agreed to put him on the
medications that I had avoided.

0 Okay. A lot of challenges on the home front.

A Uh-huh.

Q And you're -- you're -- it sounds like you're
trying to manage the best you can. And so part of that
mix 1s attempting some medications with --

A Uh-huh.

0 -— Brendan?
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A Uh-huh.
Q Now, was that to any success or no?
A No. So with these medications, like you

can't just like stop anything cold turkey. Everything
has to be weaned on and weaned off.

Q Sure.

A And I saw -- you know, when we were goilng
through this and I was calling for Baker Acts because
the medications weren't working, I went back and I
looked, and over that time period, he was on 17
different cocktails of medications because of all the
professionals involved.

0 Wow.

A That, you know, each time he went into a
Baker Act, I asked the psychiatrist, please talk to his
psychiatrist out in the community who's treating him,
find out what they've used, what they want to try next.
And they would never talk to them. I mean, that's just
standard, they don't talk to them. And so they would
put him on a medication. And I would get him. And
sometimes just to turn around and go right back in
because 1t was the wrong medication.

And but it was constant, the in and out that
year with all these doctors doing opposite of each

other —-
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Q Right.
A -- and adding on to each other.
0 And what did -- if we're saying medications

are not working, what does not working look like?

A What 1t looks like is just, you know, being
so overemotional, reacting really fast. You know, can
gquickly go from being happy to being upset. Just, you

know, his mood was not stable.

Q Was there --

A And --

Q -- also -- and I'm sorry.
A Uh-huh.

Were there also additional diagnoses at the

time of oppositional defiant disorder --

A Uh-huh.

Q -— intermittent explosive disorder, et
cetera?

A It would depend on, you know, which ever time

you go 1nto a place to stay, that doctor would go on

another (indiscernible).

Q Okay. But those were (indiscernible) at the
time --
A Yeah.
-— was well?
A (Indiscernible).
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0 And it sounds 1like you're describing a

behavioral reflection of these disorders, right?

A Yeah.

Q Okay.

A Yeah.

Q Is aggression any part of that?

A Absolutely aggression 1s a part of it.

0 Okay. Do you think you've learned a thing or
two about these disorders in your --

A Yeah. And I think I've -- I've -- I've
learned what I was doing wrong and what I can do
differently now.

Q Okay.

A That at that time I was not able to regulate
my own emotions, that I was dealing with so much

between my mother and my daughter --

0 Right.
A -- I was overwhelmed, and I couldn't -- when
he would ratchet up and -- and he would escalate, I --

my emotions would escalate. I could feel my heart
pounding. I could feel, you know, struggling with, you
know, how to get the situation in hand, especially
seeing as my daughter was recovering and her brain was
so fragile, that I was just -- I was trying to manage

the best I can. And I was failing.
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Q And i1if we're talking narrowly about

aggression Oor anger -—-

A Uh-huh.

Q -— or maybe just overly emotional --

A Uh-huh.

Q -- do you fear that that can be mistaken to
someone that doesn't -- by someone who doesn't know him

as just abhorrent behavior?

A Oh, yeah. Because I mean, like, you know,
somebody with autism looks just like you and me. You
know, they -- we -- we -- they -- you can't look at
somebody and say that person doesn't look like they
have autism. And so and 1t was another thing like when
it would -- when it would happen out in public that,
you know, he has two white parents and we have a black
child, and the fear of when we were out in public that,

you know, people would think that we're kidnapping

him --
Q Uh-huh.
A -—- or that, you know --
Q Right.
A -- something, you know -- and -- and yeah, I

always had fears.
0 And what have you done specifically to

educate yourself about autism?
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A Well, T mean, throughout the years I
continued. You know, and I -- like I said, I took
classes in therapeutic listening and early on and did
these kind of things. And those things worked for him
while he would let me use them with him. I since then
-- you know, my specialty is not autism as an OT, but I
have access to all the courses that therapists and even
psychologists have.

Q Okay.

A And so I've been taking courses. I took a
master class in autism. I've taken training in helping
your clients with emotional regulation -- emotional
regulation. TI've been reading all kinds of books on
the polyvagal theory and internal family systems. So
I've been spending my time educating myself further.

Q Does that education, what you've learned
about autism, help inform how you view behaviors?

A Oh, absolutely. That -- what i1s going on
below the surface, what need is not being met, and what
1s he trying to communicate.

All right. You had mentioned Baker Acts.
Uh-huh.

Q

A

0 Now, when was that first done?

A Those were first started, I believe, in 2018.
Q

Okay. Now, 1t -- it wasn't clear to me, was
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there a precipitating event or it -- 1t sounds like
it's in the timeframe of chaos on the --

A Uh-huh.

Q -- home front, were there also events that
caused you to do that or is this some sort of tool?

A It all blurs together. 1I'll be honest, 1t --

Q Okay.

A --— blurs together. But a lot of i1t was
aggression between him and his sister --

Q Okay.

A -- and calling 1in.

0 And so the -- how did it come to pass that
you availl yourself of this option, of a Baker Act, a
mental health intervention?

A The professionals would tell me, the
professionals would say --

Q Uh-huh.

A -- 1f he acted out, call 911.

0 All right. So on the advice of

professionals?
A Yeah.
Q Was that at all a way to access, to open any

doors that were otherwise closed to services or --
A I -- so as we started -- as it started, I

just thought, okay, 1t would be a medication change,
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but then as it was going on and there was more and more
medications added in and these huge cocktails to where
he was gaining 10 pounds a month. He had been an
average-sized kid. And he started gaining 10 pounds a
month. And he was hungry all the time. And that had
been one of his triggers also, was being hungry. And
so these medications made him just starving to where he
would just hoard food.

And -- and so I -- I knew that we needed
residential, we needed to figure out medication, we
needed a medication watch and with the goal of taking
him off all the medications and starting over because
these doctors were just piling one on top of another.
And -- and so I was told the only way to get him to
residential was to have a paper trail, to call every
single time he acted out so we could get the paper
trail.

0 I see. Okay.
So developing some sort of history --
A Uh-huh.
Q -— that could thereafter be relied on by a

residential facility --

A Uh-huh.
Q -- and greasing the wheels of the admission?
A Uh-huh.
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Q Okay. And be sure to say yes oOr no.
A I'm sorry.
Q It doesn't pick up uh-huhs very good.
A Yeah, I'm sorry.
0 That's all right. I understand.

Now, so at this point were -- were you, and
to the extent that you can speak for family members,
afraid of Brendan?

A I was more afraid for Brendan and his sister
together, how they were going at each other. And --
and I just could see -- I couldn't see a way out with
treating him in the home at that time with the
medications.

Q All right. So I might have lost the
chronology here, but if we're talking like middle
school years —--

A Uh-huh.

-— we're still in the homeschool?
Yeah.

Okay.

Yes.

Is that working?

It was working.

Okay. For the —--

= G S = O = ©)

It was.
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Q -— same reasons that you talked about before?
A The same reasons. There was —-- there was

just as many moms as there were kids everywhere I took
him. And so every mom was responsible for her child
and -- and -- and making sure that her child was
behaving. And so we didn't run into the issues.

0 All right. But and you hadn't tried the
public school again, right?

A I tried it one time at eighth grade.

Q Okay. And --

A And that was on the --

Q -— what --

A -— recommendation of another expert.

0 Okay. To no success?

A To no success.
0 All right. And we've heard, on day one,

testimony about a residential placement in South

Carolina —--
A Uh-huh.
Q -—- Springbrook.

A Springbrook.

Q How did that come about and when?

A So, you know, we -- through the adoption
support system that I had, they helped me with trying

to get coverage for -- through Medicaid --
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Q Uh-huh.
A -— to help him, but our insurance company

wasn't going to pay for much of anything. And it was
-- you know, there was nothing in the state.

Q Okay.

A And so the only place that both our insurance
and Medicaid covered was in South Carolina. You know,
we would have liked for him to have been closer to
home.

Q Sure.

A But so 1t was in South Carolina. We
transported him there in November of 2019.

Q Okay.

A And the plan was that we would -- my husband
and T were going to alternate going to see him once a
month, to fly up there and spend time with him once a
month. Because, you know, the residential is also
about bringing families working well back together
again.

Q Sure.

A And so being able to spend time with him, you
know, both there at the facility and then also time
apart, you know, taking him places. And then
eventually, you know, work up to, you know, spending

weekends together and things like that.
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Q And what was the overarching goal here in
your estimation? What -- what would --

A My -- my goal --
Q -— be the best case scenario?
A My goal that I wanted was a complete medical

watch. I wanted him taken off of all of his

medications and -- and work on the coping skills.
Q Uh-huh.
A And -- and see, you know, after taking him

off his medication and working with him with coping
skills, working him -- with him with OT, and all these
kind of things, see 1f he really needed medication and
how much to put him on and start kind of him at
baseline again. Because like I said, this kid had gone
through over 17 medications that were mixed back and
forth before that.

0 And from what you had learned about this
facility and the lead up to the placement, did it seem
like they'd be equipped to deal with this?

A I just went based on what my insurance
company would say —--

Q Okay.

A -— on where to go. That 1t was an autism
behavioral hospital.

Q Right.
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A That there were things I didn't think about
in the planning of it and everything that later on, you

know, I saw why i1t wasn't necessarily a great

placement.
Q Right?
A But --
0 At the time, i1t seemed --
A At the time --
Q -— right?
A At the time 1t seemed right.
Q Okay. And I'm sorry, you -- I think you said

this, the plan on frequency of contact with him was

going to be you're alternating with your husband --

A Going up every --

Q -— monthly?

A -- month, like monthly.

Q Monthly. Okay.

A Uh-huh.

Q And did that proceed as planned?

A We started out, but then COVID hit. And --
Q Yes.

A And everything got shut down to where we

couldn't go see him. We couldn't spend any time with
him. The facility like -- I mean, 1f you remember

COVID, 1t just shut down facilities --
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Q Right.
A -- where families were torn apart, and you

couldn't see each other. And during that time, a lot
of staff was getting COVID. And the clients there were
getting COVID. They were being isolated in their
rooms.

0 Right.

A It was just a really chaotic time. And we
lost the ability to be with him.

0 Okay. Before that --

A Uh-huh.

0 -- and that certainly sounds like a
significant point in time, but before that, was there
any sort of assessments of his progress, any feedback
you were getting? How was he doing?

A I know like -- I think, like, in the first
month that he was there, they talked about he had a
hallucination, that he was seeing something and -- and
saying, oh, keep it away from me, keep it away from me.

I know his -- his behavior was enough to where
we could go and take him out. My aunt and I would
drive to see him. I flew into Atlanta. And my aunt
and I would go and see him. And --
0 Uh-huh.

A And we took him to the zoo.
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But again, we always did well when he was with
a trusted adult. So --

Q The -- so it sounds like some degree of
progress, perhaps?

A Uh-huh.

Q COVID, that limits your contact -- or it
eliminates --

A Uh-huh.

0 -- family contact.

A Uh-huh.

Q It throws the staff into disarray. And it
sounds like it further isolates the people that are
residents.

A Uh-huh.

Q Okay. After that -- and so it sounds like

things probably changed. What -- how -- how did it

look after that? Was he -- did he remain at
Springbrook?
A So the original plan would have been for him

to come straight back home from Springbrook, had it

gone according to plan. Had --

Q Okay.
A -— we been able to go and do weekends and
spend time with him and -- and we would have gotten an

Airbnb and stayed with him, even for like a week, up

@ ESQUIRE 800.211.DEPO (3376)

DEROSITION SOLUTIONS EsquireSolutions.com



oy O W N

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

APPEAL SENTENCING HEARING Continued August 06, 2024

SOF V. BRENDAN DEPA 198

there; he would have come home. But because we didn't

have that, we felt like we needed a step down. So that

plan would be for him to step down and then come home.
The Medicaid case manager had recommended

connected with APD and using a group home as a step

down.
Q Okay. Agency for Persons with Disabilities?
A Yes.
Q So based on that recommendation, is -- 1s

that the next step? Is that where he goes, to a —-

A That was --

Q -— group home?

A That was the next step. And then while all
that was -- all that planning was going on and
everything, to even further cement that that was what
was going to happen, my husband suffered a massive
heart attack. And we were dealing with his health, as
well.

0 Okay. If we can, just back up one minute to
Springbrook. Do you feel like they ever got that
medication combination correct, or was it still,
there's something off --

A No.

Q -— about that?

A He was still off. He was still --
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Q Okay.
A -- off. And -- and again, I mean, it was

Q

A

Q
that? Is

you know?

question.

question.

Q

just such a time. I mean, COVID was such a factor in
all of this. He -- but no. I -- they never did the
medication wash. They never took him off of all those

medications. They just added to it.

problems while he was at Springbrook.

BY MR. TEIFKE:

You probably heard about some behavior

Uh-huh.
Do you have any sense of what undergirds

it -- 1s it medication not being right, or do

MS. CLARK: Objection, Judge.
THE WITNESS: I think --

MS. CLARK: She's not qualified to answer that

THE COURT: Sustained.
MR. TEIFKE: That was an objectionable

T agree.

So let go back to the group home. Okay.
Where --

Uh-huh.

-- 1s that?

The group home is in Palm Coast.
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Q Okay. What 1s 1t? Describe 1t a little bit.

A It's an intensive behavioral group home. He
was -- when he was assessed, he was a level six. And
-- and they were able to accept level six clients.

Q What's your understanding of what that means?
What's level six?

A Level six means that he needs the most
support.

0 Okay. Substantial support?

A Substantial support.

Q All right. And did you concur with that,

that that's -- that sounds right, he needs --
A Yeah.
Q -—- that?
A I did.

Q All right. You probably heard Dr. Prichard's

assessment of the level of support needed.

A Uh-huh.

0 He handicapped it as low.
A Uh-huh.

0 Do you disagree with that?
A I absolutely --

MS. CLARK: Objection, Judge.
THE WITNESS: -- disagree with --

MS. CLARK: She's not qualified --
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THE WITNESS: -—- that.
MS. CLARK: -—- Lo answer.

Q

A

Q
purpose?
A

Q
begins --

A
Q
A
Q

A

Q

answer that.

BY MR. TEIFKE:

background work here?

him in the group home? What's the extent of your

engagement with him during this timeframe?

Excuse me.
THE COURT: Yeah.

MS. CLARK: Objection. She's not qualified to

THE COURT: Sustailned.

Did Dr. Prichard interview you as part of his

No, he never reached out.

Would you have been available for that

I would have.

Okay. So ECHO begins -- the group home

Uh-huh.

-— when?

November of 2020.
November of 2020.
And it lasts until?
Until his arrest.

Okay. Are you visiting him? Are you seeing
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A My husband and I would alter every two weeks.
That I would go one, and then two weeks later, he would
go.

0 All right.

A I would go and -- and bring my mother with
me. She and I would take him out to eat. We would
take him shopping. Sometimes back to her house.

My husband would take him and get a hotel room

for the weekend and spend weekends with him. When we
had holidays, we would rent Airbnb for three to four

days and as a whole family, go together to the Airbnb.

Q It -- i1t sounds like he was getting along
okay --

A Uh-huh.

Q -- at ECHO?

A He was.

Q All right. I don't remember when along the
timeline it is, but at some point it is, he's back in
the public school system while at ECHO; is that
correct?

A That's correct.

Q When did that begin and why?

A So when ECHO accepted them, and I met with
ECHO and everything, they told me that he would have to

go to a public school. And I -- I was terrified of
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that. I didn't want him to go into a public school.
But that's -- they force all of their clients to go to

public school. They have --

Q It's --

A -— like eight or nine group homes.

Q Okay. So 1t's a requirement to even be a
resident?

A It is. 1It's a requirement to be a resident.

Q All right.

A And they assured me that they worked well
with the public school, that they were within 10
minutes 1f they needed to be called. It took -- he
moved there in November. It took the school system
until March to place him.

Q What -- well, were there concerns about
public school, the same as we've already talked about?

A It is that he is easily -- easily overwhelmed
and needed substantial support.

0 Okay. ECHO, it sounds like, tries to give
you some assurances. They say, wait, we have a support
team —--

A Uh-huh.

Q -— on —-- on standby?

A They did.
Q

Okay. So the public school experiment begins
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when? I'm sorry.

A In March of 2021.

0 In March. Okay.

Otherwise at ECHO during this timeframe, was
he doing okay? Is the feedback still decent?

A They were managing him. I mean, he
definitely, 1n the beginning when he first went there,
had more behaviors where they had to restrain him. But
then he would go through periods where he would do
okay. But there was a definite progression in -- 1n
doing better. Like, when he first started out there,
he needed a lot more restraints.

0 A lot more restraints. Okay.

A And then he needed less as time moved on.

0 Well, did you feel that, you know, 1if he's
going to be in public school, did you feel like that
their assurance to you that they were right on standby,
do you -- did you feel that that was a very important
measure to have in place?

A Yeah. I even asked if somebody from ECHO
could go to school with him.

Q Okay.

A My preference would have been an ECHO staff
member attending with him, but I was told that wasn't

an option.
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Q

A

Q
A

Q

diagnoses.

A

LGNNI Ol - CH =R &

is the place that accepted him, and this is what they

told me was going to happen.

additional medical doctors 1n his life? Are there

additional diagnoses?

through virtual. Because again, remember COVID.

had a virtual psychiatrist. You know, ECHO set him up

with a primary doctor.

far as the actual diagnoses, are there any additional

at this point?

But again, my hands are kind of tied. This

Okay. At this point, what about, are there

He had a -- he had a psychiatrist that met

Yeah.

So everybody was doing virtual then. So he

It sounds like we've talked about several

Oh, I'm sorry.

Now, what —--

And then also he had a private therapist.
A private therapist. Okay.

That met with him weekly.

Okay. And who as that?

Tanya Gilchrist.

Right. Okay.

Besides what we've already talked about as
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A

Q

just off?

A

said, every single time he met with somebody, they

added a new diagnosis to the mix.

front? 1Is 1t getting closer to right, or is it still

psychiatrist and Brendan because of the telehealth. So
they would like tell them what was going on. And T
know the doctor was switching things back and forth.

But I do know that he still was on six psychiatric

medications.

0 Okay. Is there a -- at ECHO, itself --

A Uh-huh.

0 -— 1s it -- there's a counseling component to
it?

A Yeah. They —--

Q And so --

A -— have --

Q -— 1s 1t one --

A They have a —--

Q -- on one --

A -- behavioral analyst.

Q Okay.

A And so they had behavioral goals. The -- the

Not that I'm aware of. But I mean, like I

Is there any progress on the medication

So ECHO was the one that would meet with the
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technicians that worked there, they were trained in how
to manage his behaviors. They were trained in how to
deescalate.

0 Okay. It -- it sounds like with medication,

professionals in his life, counselors --

A Uh-huh.

0 -- that were talking about optimizing the
management --

A Uh-huh.

0 -— right?

A Right, the --

Q Rather --

A -— management.

Q Rather than stumbling upon some --

A No.

Q -- cure?

A There's no cure for autism.

0 All right. While in the public school

system, he is -- there is an IEP, right, an --
A Uh-huh.
0 -- individualized -- individualized education

program put into place, right?
A Correct.
0 When was that?

A Well, he had to have one before he could
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start school. So the first one took place in March
before he started.

0 Okay. And you're a participant in this --

A I was.
Q -— process, as a parent?
A I was.

Q Okay. And what do you understand an IEP to
even be?

A An TIEP 1s a document that is -- that 1is
federally mandated through the IDA, which for him was
like, in layman's term, for him that was what supported
his disability.

Q Okay.

A And it was documented, his strengths and his
weaknesses and where he needed help. And then
frequently there's a behavioral plan attached to that.

Q Okay. A requirement under federal law to
provide targeted --

A Correct.

Q -- 1intervention services --

A Correct.

Q -- plan? Okay.

And you -- the IEP process, because 1t 1is
individualized, tell me a little bit about the process.

You're a participant.
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A Uh-huh.
0 What are we talking about in those meetings?
A So anybody involved in his care 1s in the

meetings. That ECHO would have three or four people
there at the meeting. I was there. His private
therapist was there. The school counselor. The -- the
-— ECHO's behavioral analyst. The school's behavioral
are analyst. The district's behavioral person. The
dean frequently. The -- the -- his teacher. The ESE
director for the county.

Q Okay.

A It's a big process.

Q Oh, okay. A lot of -- a lot of stakeholders
in there?

A Yeah.

0 And this is a process -- this 1s an IEP

process that evolves, right? The IEP, itself, changes

as --
A It does.
Q -— needs become apparent?
A It does.
Q Okay. And were there, in fact, changes over

the years?
A There were changes over the years, yes.

0 Okay. And what are the goals -- what's the
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goal when there's changes? It a new need identified,
or is 1t something --

A Yeah, so —--

Q -— else?

A -— 1t's a minimum of once a year that there's
a meeting. And then in between, 1f there's any 1ssues
come up, any changes 1in the IEP, you have to meet and
discuss what those changes are going to be. And it has
to be agreed upon and documented.

0 I see. All right.

And you're -- you're a voice in that, like
you said --
A I am.
0 -— right? All right.
Do you believe that you were heard? I mean,
did what you -- was what you offered accepted? Was it

placed into the IEP?

A So, you know, I -- I expressed my concerns
about him attending public school.

Q Uh-huh.

A I was assured that they had all the
techniques to work with him. They had, you know,
specialized skill training. That they assured me they
would be able to meet his needs.

0 In your estimation, what was most needed, I
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guess, Jjust big picture? What was most needed from a
behavioral standpoint?
MS. CLARK: Objection, Judge.
THE WITNESS: Uh-huh.
MS. CLARK: She's not qualified to answer
that.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. TEIFKE:
0 What were you certain to mention in the IEP
meeting so that it was included?
A I have always been very open and up front
with the issues that Brendan was going through. I
informed the school of his verbal and physical
aggression. I also told them about all of his
triggers.
Q Okay. Well, let's talk about that, triggers.
I think we all know what we're talking about, but
what --
A Uh-huh.
Q -- what -- what are you talking about when
you say, triggers?
A It was told to them that being hungry was a
trigger. It was told to them being corrected in front
of other people was a trigger.

Q But let's go back even further --
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A Uh-huh.
Q -—- before that. What do you understand a

trigger even 1is?

A A trigger 1s something that -- particular to
an individual, that can easily cause them to escalate
their behavior.

0 I see. Okay.

So now continue.

A Okay. So I had told the school, you know,
that being hungry was a trigger, that noise was a
trigger, that being told no was a trigger, that being
corrected in front of other people was a trigger --

Q Okay.

A -- and electronics was a huge trigger.

0 Okay. And the IEP, in turn, seeks to take
into account what triggers are and approach them from a
certaln angle?

A That's correct.

0 All right. There's also a behavior plan,

A Uh-huh.

Q -— I don't know if i1it's in the IEP or it's
incorporated into it, but that's part of this, correct,
a separate --

A That's right.
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Q -— document?
A It's a separate document as part of the IEP.
Q Okay. And are you part of whatever process

produces that document?

A The school's behavioral analyst is the one
who formulated the document. And then we had to read
it and agree to.

0 All right. So you -- you've read it, you're

aware of its --

A Uh-huh.
0 -— contents?
A I am.

0 All right. And were there also multiple
behavior plans?

A There were.

Q Okay. Throughout the --

A As time went on, yeah. If any behavior
needed to be addressed, then they would call a meeting
and add it to it.

Q And you -- you said one thing, everyone who
-— you said everyone signs it, but I didn't --

A Uh-huh.

Q —-— catch what the everyone was that you're
referring to.

A So the everyone is the -- the team, the IEP
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team, which, you know, typically is somewhere between
14 and 16 professionals.

0 Okay. They have an opportunity to review 1t

and —--
A That's correct.
Q -- in fact, must view it if --
A Correct.
Q -- they're signing it, right?
A Correct.

Q All right. I think you just talked about

what you believed were the most important aspects of

this plan --
A Uh-huh.
Q -— by virtue of the things you were talking

about, the things you were most concerned about, right?
A Correct.

Q Okay. And there are preventative

strategies --
A There are.
Q -- that are part of the behavior plan --
A There are.
Q -- and, hence, part of the IEP, right?
A Uh-huh. Correct.
Q What -- you've alluded to a few, but --
A Uh-huh.
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0 -- what other preventative strategies are
important here, in your estimation?
A May I read what was on there?
Q I certainly don't mind. Are you reading from
the behavior plan?
MR. TEIFKE: It's admitted into evidence,
Judge.
MS. CLARK: I don't know what she's reading
from.
THE COURT: All right. She --
MS. CLARK: I don't know what she's reading
from. If she can show us.
THE COURT: All right.
BY MR. TEIFKE:
0 Would it be the behavior plan? Because
it's --

A I have —-

0 -- Exhibit Number 3.
A Yeah, I copied 1t. If you want me to read
directly from it from there, I copied -- I handwrote

exactly what was on there, but if you want me to read
it directly from there, I can.

MR. TEIFKE: Whatever makes the State feel
more comfortable.

THE WITNESS: I --
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MS. CLARK: She can read what's in evidence.
That's fine.
MR. TEIFKE: Can I approach?
THE COURT: You may.
THE WITNESS: Okay.
BY MR. TEIFKE:
0 All right. 1I've handed you the

aforementioned behavior plan.

A Use --

0 Preventative strategies, we're talking
about --

A Preventative --

Q -—- correct?

A -- strategies.

Q All right.

A Use humor with Brendan and build a positive

rapport. Avoid negative corrective statements, even
after behaviors targeted for reduction have occurred.
Do not talk about his behaviors in front of him. Avoid
correcting, reprimanding, or redirecting Brendan in the
presence of peers, as student has a history of becoming
verbally aggressive and defiant when approached this
way.
Emphasize with Brendan, I can see you're

frustrated, 1s there something I can help you with. Do
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not take comments personally and use plan ignoring.

Use a token economy and allow him opportunities to earn
tokens. Remind him of the strategies he can utilize to
cope before transitioning into activities and
locations. Example, remember, 1f you need one, ask --
you can ask for a break.

Reduce transitions across school setting into
locations, such as the cafeteria, as peers easily
trigger severe behaviors.

That is just a few of the 25 that were on
here.

Q Okay.

A Well, oh, here's another one here. Utilize a
calm neutral tone of voice when communicating with
Brendan across all settings and situations.

Q And you believe these to all be important
directives --

A Absolutely.

0 -- and strategies?

A Absolutely.

0 And 1s your assessment of their importance
based on your firsthand experience with him and
employing those strategies?

A It is. And for the times I didn't employ

those strategies.
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Q Let me talk about the incident a little bit
and why we're here.

A Uh-huh.

0 Here's one aspect of it first. You saw the
-— were you here when the video was played, the
body-worn camera?

A I was.

Q Okay. And did you see and hear Brendan being
gquite upset?

A I did.

Q Okay. Have you ever seen him like that
before? Have you ever seen him use profanity, be that
upset?

A I've seen him use profanity when he's upset.
And I've seen him say things like, I'm going to kill

you, when he's upset. All very transient.

0 Do you -- if -- if you've experienced this --
A Uh-huh.
0 -— before, something like this before, let's

start with, I'm going to kill you; I'm assuming that
was never followed through on, right?

A Never.

Q Do you view 1t was part in parcel with these
disabilities we're talking about?

A I do.
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MS. CLARK: Objection, Judge.

THE WITNESS: I mean, 1t was --

MS. CLARK: She's not qualified to answer
that.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MR. TEIFKE: Okay.
BY MR. TEIFKE:

Q There's a manifestation meeting that's held
in the wake of this; is that correct?

A That's correct.

0 All right. What is, for starters, your
understanding of what a manifestation meeting is?

A My understanding is that when a behavior
occurs in the school, that a typical student could --
could -- could stand before a discipline for possibly
suspension, expulsion, that the student with the IEP

and a disability, there is a manifestation meeting

where all of the team members come together and discuss

the incident, discuss his behavior and his responses,
staff's responses, to determine whether or not the

behavior was a manifestation of his disability.

Because 1f 1t 1s a manifestation -- 1f it 1s a

manifestation of his disability, the school cannot
expel.

Q Okay. And it -- all the aforementioned
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persons --

A Uh-huh.

Q -- that we talked about, they're all part of
this, as well?

A There were 14 professionals in that meeting.

0 The manifestation meeting?

A Yes, there were.

Q And when, Jjust roughly, was that held?

A That was held -- I've got to -- I wrote it
down. I believe 1t was the 23rd.

Q Of February?

A Of February.

Q Okay. I --

A A couple of days -- a couple of days after
the incident.

Q All right. That's -- that's what I was
getting at there.

A All right.

0 Shortly thereafter.

So 1s -- 1s there discussion in the

manifestation meeting of how the events unfolded? Like
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0 All right. And who is -- is there a chair,
1s there someone who's leading that discussion? Or
where 1s this information generally coming from?

A I don't recall who chaired it. It's 1in the
documents. But I just know like the -- the people that
were present.

Q Okay.

A T don't know 1f it was the dean that chaired
it or if it was the director of ESE services.

0 All right. And then there is a conclusion

drawn, a manifestation determination --

A That's correct.

0 -— review conclusion?

A That's correct.

Q And what was the conclusion here?

A That the behavior was a manifestation of his
disability.

Q Okay. And that is reduced to a document,
correct?

A It is.

Q Okay. Was there, to the extent that you can
recall, specific discussion about why that conclusion
was drawn? Did the professionals weigh 1in, do you
remember, or --

A There were a couple of behavioral analysts in
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there. There was the school counselor, school
psychologist, his psychologist. Based on how the event
occurred, what was reported to the -- the group, these
were all targeted behaviors, and it was obvious his
behavioral plan had not been followed.

Q Okay. And there 1is, of course, mentioning,
or underscoring, at this point of his several

significant diagnoses, correct?

A Yes, that's correct.
0 To include ADHD --

A Yeah.

Q -— right?

A That's correct.

0 And sensory disorder?
A That's correct.

0 Behavioral impulse control disorder, right?

And yes or no?

A Yes.

0 Okay. Mood disorder?
A Yes.

0 And autism?

A Yes.

Q It's all part of this mix from which this
conclusion 1s drawn?

A That's correct.
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0 All right. There was -- there was a mention
of also a history of seizures, correct?

A There is a mention of that, but he has not
had any seizures.

0 Okay. And then there is lastly mentioned,
discussion of, 1n reaching this conclusion, medication
and side effects from medication?

A That's correct.

Q All right. Do you have any way of assessing
his emotional maturity?

MS. CLARK: Objection. She's not qualified
for that, either. She's not a psychologist. She's his
mother.

THE COURT: Sustained.

You can restate 1it.

BY MR. TEIFKE:

Q He's been in your life since he was how many
months old?

A Five months old.

Q Okay. And you've seen his physical,
emotional development, correct?

A That is correct.

Q Okay. As a result of that years of
experience with Brendan, do you have a way to handicap,

or assess, his emotional maturity?
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MS. CLARK: Objection, Judge. She's not a
psychologist. She's his mother.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MR. TEIFKE: Okay.

THE WITNESS: I do have reports.

MS. CLARK: Objection.
BY MR. TEIEFKE:
Well, what about just his sophistication --

Uh-huh.

(O ©)

-- what can you tell us about that?

A Well, I can tell you that, you know, he's
always had difficulty with making friends. He had
difficulty with sharing and cooperation and following
rules; all the things that I typically -- I don't --
I'm trying not to —--

0 That's fine.

A Things that I typically would see with my
younger clients.

Q Okay. Younger than 18 years old?

A Correct.

0 All right.

A I worked with mostly birth to three --

MS. CLARK: Objection, Judge.
THE WITNESS: -- up to eight.

MS. CLARK: There's not a question at hand.
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THE COURT: Okay. Restate, please.
BY MR. TEIFKE:

Q Has anyone -- since February of 2023, has
anyone reached out to you about this case?

A Lots of people.

0 What's lots?

A Hundreds of people across the country. I've
had behavioral analysts. I've had people in -- 1in
education, especially special education, reach out to
me. Families with children with autism.

0 Okay. People, 1t sounds like, that know a
thing or two about the topic?

A They do.

Q Okay. Some of these, of course, have already
been submitted as an exhibit, but do you -- do you find
that there's been a lot of support coming your way?

A I've had a lot of support from the autism
community, from the -- from behavioral analysts, and
from the special ed community.

Q Okay.

A The Arc of Florida also reached out to me.

0 All right. The State of Florida wants to put
Brendan in prison. Do you think that's a good fit?

A No, I don't.

Q Why?
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A Because I don't think he'll survive prison.
That he's either going to be kept in confinement, or
he's going to be put in general population. He spent
six months in confinement in Jacksonville where he was
allowed out one hour a day.

0 What's wrong with confinement?

A It's not good for mental health. That's a
well-known, that confinement is not good for mental --
mental health, not to spend six months in a row where
his medications were stopped cold turkey. FEach time he
ran out of the medication, the jJail wouldn't reorder
it, and they just stopped his medication cold turkey.
He went through withdrawals in isolation.

0 Why would a general prison population be a
good fit then?

A General population is not going to be a good
fit, because the inmates, they see that he's different,
and -- they see that he's different, and they are
either going to use him to accomplish things that they
want to accomplish --

MS. CLARK: Objection, Judge.

THE WITNESS: -- by trying to be his friend.

MS. CLARK: Objection. She has no foundation
for this. She doesn't work in the Department of

Corrections. She's never worked in a prison system.
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She has no basis for her opinion.
THE COURT: Sustained.

BY MR. TEIFKE:

Q Do you feel he would be vulnerable in the
Department of Corrections?

A I do.

Q Okay. And you heard some testimony from the
first State witness, Suzonne Kline, were —-- you were

here for that, correct?

A I was.

0 The personnel from the Department of
Corrections --

A I was.

Q -- talking about mental health services, 1T

guess. Let's —--
A Correct.

-—- call it that. Why wouldn't that work?

MS. CLARK: Objection, Judge. She is not a
psychologist. She can't render treatment for patients.
She doesn't know what would or would not work for a
mental health patient.

THE COURT: Mr. Teifke, you're going to have
to establish a better predicate than --

MR. TEIFKE: That's -- that's —--

THE COURT: -- that.
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MR. TEIFKE: -- fine.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. TEIFKE:
0 Did hearing the testimony of Suzonne Kline
allay all your concerns?
A No, it did not.
0 Did it allay any of them?
A No, it did not.
Q You fear that Brendan might not even
survive --
MS. CLARK: Objection as to leading.
THE COURT: Sustained.
Restate.

BY MR. TEIFKE:

0 You -- you testified that you -- you fear for
his very survival?

A I do.

Q The judge has an option here of committing
him to the Department of Juvenile Justice. Are you
aware of that?

A I am.

Q Do you feel differently about a commitment
program to the Department of Juvenile Justice as
opposed to prison?

A I'1l be honest that I've researched prison a
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lot more than I have the -- the juvenile justice. I'm
in Facebook groups with families of inmates, so I
understand that system a lot better than I do the
juvenile.

Q Okay. Fair enough.

Have you made any efforts to explore
community-based optioned?

A I have.

Q What type of efforts have you made?

A I got a list of APD group homes, and I
started calling to see 1f there was one that would be
willing to take him.

Q Okay.

A I reached out to residential facilities to
see 1f there was any residential facility that he would

be a fit for.

Q Let's —- let's stick on group homes for one
minute.
A Okay.

0 Any luck there?

A Yes. I found an intensive behavioral group
home 20 minutes from my house that has agreed to take
him who says that they have a bed for him.

0 Available when, though?

A Now.
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0 Okay. And this is in the -- on the west
coast —--
A It is.
Q -— of Florida-?
A It is.
Q Tampa area?
A It is.
0 Okay. With an awareness of Brendan's needs?
A Yes. They've -- they've screened him.
They've met with him on -- online. And they've talked

to him. They, I believe, I'm not positive, but I
thought they had talked to his tutor. And then they
talked to me. And they know all of his needs.

Q Okay. And he's been in -- Brendan has been

in custody since February of 2023. So —--

A That's correct.

Q -— 18 months or so0?

A That's correct.

0 Okay. Have you explored any transition-type

options, moving from incarceration to community-based?
A I have.
0 Okay. And what -- I think you started to
talk about this. What were those efforts?
A Yeah. So there is a residential facility in

Florida through Flyland where they've agreed, they've
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-—- they've sent me an acceptance letter that they would
accept him. And then i1f need be after that, they have
-— they have another facility in New Jersey that has a
possible -- has a partial hospitalization program where
he would live on campus. They also will take him. And

then another residential facility, Onyx, has agreed to

take him.
Q Okay.
A Along with there's another program called

Harmony that is matched up with them.

Q Harmony?

A Harmony.

Q That's some sort of --

A Harmony Recovery Health, I believe it 1is.

Q That's some sort of offshoot of Onyx, 1s —--

do I understand that --

A Yeah.

0 -— right?

A Well, they're -- they're not together. But
the -- the person who set us up with Onyx 1s also
setting us up with Harmony.

Q Okay. These -- these, to my understanding,
though, at least from a residential aspect, are short
term; is that right?

A Like six to eight weeks.
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Q Okay. If --

A And the hospitalization, partial
hospitalization could be months.

Q Okay. So 1if Brendan were given an
opportunity for a community-based sentence, we talked
about a group home that has committed him.

A That's correct.

0 What about returning home? That didn't work

at some point --

A Uh-huh.

Q -- along the way here. $So i1s that an option?
A It's definitely an option.

0 And --

A We want him to come home.

0 Okay. What's different?

A One 1s we're not in the crisis that we were
in before. Things have kind of settled down a little
bit. My daughter doesn't live at home anymore. I am
-— I'm taking more classes. And this last year and a
half -- year and a half, I have walked through so many
fires. And I've come out stronger to where -- I -- 1
talk to Brendan every day. And when Brendan and I
talk, if he's upset about something, he calms down by
the time he gets off the phone.

The periods he was in jJail when there were
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some behaviors were periods where he was kept away from
me, that he didn't have access to a phone for weeks.
And -- and that was when some of the behaviors

occurred. I feel 1like Brendan and I have such a bond

and that T -- I think that Brendan will do well with
me.
0 And he would be welcome home at this point?
A He would be welcomed home.

Q How else might that be structured? What
other adults would be in his 1life?

A My husband is there, as well as my
24-year-old son.

Q Okay.

A And my husband and I both work from home.

0 Okay. So if this were structured as a

community control, which is like a house arrest --

A Uh-huh.

Q -- or which is house arrest, excuse me, could
that work?

A It absolutely could work. That -- like I
said, my -- my husband and I both work from home. We

have another man that has been in Brendan's life since
this happened. He's a school resource officer. He
lives 15 minutes away from us.

Q Okay.
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A He also will remain a constant in Brendan's
life. We have --
Q Is that -- before we move on from him, 1is

that Jerome Powell we're speaking --

A Jerome --

Q -— about?

A -- Powell, uh-huh.

Q Okay.

A We have --

0 Who else?

A We have Tara and Rob Ferry that are here with

us that live in our neighborhood. They have a son with
autism.

Q Okay.

A And they are also support system. Rob, he
educates -- or he tutors students in computer science.
He has offered to work with Brendan.

Q Okay. So, so far, these aren't just

hypothetical adults in his --

A No.
0 -— life, they're in?
A They're in his life. He talks to Jerome

pretty much daily.
Q Okay.

A Sometimes multiple times a day.
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Q You're familiar, of course, he's working
locally in the school with his teacher, Eugene Lopes --

A I —

Q -—- correct?

A -- am.

Q Is —--

A Uh-huh

0 Would there be any continuing engagement

there poss
A
remain in
Q
some sort
A
that were
Q
A
They also
faith, who
letter in
remain in
Q
apparatus

A

Q

ible or --

I would hope so. I hope that Gene will

our life forever.

Okay. Any other adults there that could have

of meaningful impact here?

We have Peggy and Doug Harward (phonetic)

here last time --

Okay.

-— that helped with homeschooling Brendan.
are a fine Christian family with strong
couldn't be here today, but have written a
support of Brendan, and that they also will

his life.

Okay. FEveryone 1s -- will be part of this
if it comes --

Evervyone.

-— to that?
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A Everybody wants the best. My entire family
1s here supporting us.
Q Let's go back to Jerome Powell for a minute.

Is that also a placement option?

A Jerome has offered to take Brendan.
Q Okay.
A He wants to take Brendan. He -- he feels led

by God to be in Brendan's life. Jerome has worked as a
paraprofessional. And he has worked as a school
resource officer. And he has a son with autism. He's
married to an RN. They have committed to being in
Brendan's life.

0 Do you feel that -- that this number of
people, and perhaps more --

A Uh-huh.

Q -— that this number of people can allay any
concerns for public safety that might be held?

A I think we can, because Brendan 1s always
going to be with one of us. He's not going to be out
in public on his own. He will be with one of us.

0 Okay. And do you envision continuing to, you
know, pull the levers on medication and counseling, et
cetera?

A I do. His therapist that's been with him for

the last -- since 2020, has --
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0 Ms. Gilchrist.

A -- sald -- Ms. Gilchrist said that she will
continue working with him.

Q Okay.

A She's talked to him a couple of times on the
phone since he's been in jail. And she looks forward
to would go with him.

0 And she's a therapist?

A She 1s a therapist.

0 And that's -- her willingness to engage 1s
based on knowing everything, and having --

A No. She knows -- yeah, she knows everything,
but she's also my personal therapist. She's seen how
I've grown over the last year and a half. And she sees
that we are able to manage Brendan and that she would
remalin a constant. She -- she i1s a wonderful woman
that's available at a phone call.

0 All right. As the judge decides what to do
here today, 1s there anything else you feel he needs to
know?

A Brendan has -- he's had a hard life. He
started out as a foster care baby who struggled. And
he's felt abandoned by his birth family. And he felt
abandoned by us when I sent him to South Carolina. He

struggles with autism and behavioral 1ssues. But other
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than that year, where we had just extreme chaos from
medical stuff going on, I was able to manage Brendan,
because I knew Brendan and I knew his triggers and I
knew his needs and his strengths.

And I beg you to let him come home with me. I
want my son back. Thank you.
MR. TEIFKE: I don't got other questions.
THE COURT: Let's take a break.
MS. CLARK: That's fine, Judge.
THE COURT: Let's take a 10-minute break. The
Court will be in recess 10 minutes.
(A recess was taken at 10:02 a.m., and
proceedings resumed at 10:16 a.m.)
THE COURT: All right. Ms. Depa, if you'll
come back.
All right. Ms. Clark, you may proceed.
MS. CLARK: Thank you, Your Honor.
CROSS-EXAMINAT ION
BY MS. CLARK:
Q Good morning, Mrs. Depa.
A Good morning.
Q I wanted to go back through some of what
Mr. Teifke had talked to you about. He kind of went
through a timeline with you.
A Uh-huh.
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Q It's my understanding that, as you've
indicated, your son was -- started the Baker Acts,

what, 2018, was 1it?

A Yes.

0 Okay. And eventually, you moved him to
Springbrook in November of 20197

A That's correct.

Q And he stayed there almost a year?

A That's correct.

Q Okay. So he was out November of 2020, and

then went into ECHO here in Flagler County in November

of 20207
A That's correct.
Q Okay. Now, going back to when Brendan was

living at home, there were several violent outbursts at
home, correct?

A Throughout his life he had problems with
aggression. When he would become -- when -- when he
would have like an emotional meltdown, he would become
aggressive.

0 And he'd been aggressive with you?

A Yeah. Not to the point of causing any
bruises, but more like pushing and stuff like that.

Q Okay. But aggressive with his dad?

A Maybe pushing.
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0 Okay. With his sister?

A Pushing, hitting. He and his sister both
with hit each other.

0 Okay. And I knew you had mentioned that you
were fearful of Brendan around his sister; that right?

A At that time around -- both of them around
each other, that she was very impulsive, as well,
having just gone through brain surgery.

Q And she's no longer living with you?

A No, she's not.

0 And where i1s she 1iving?

A She has her own housing. She's working.
She's going to church. She's doing very well.

Q Okay. And how old is she? What's the age
difference?

A She's 20.

Q So she's, what, about a year older?

A A little bit more than a year, about
18 months older.

Q Okay. And once he got to Springbrook, I know
you saild initially you and your husband would try and
visit, was 1t once a month?

A We were -- we were trying to, yes.

0 And then obviously COVID hit, and that

disrupted?
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A That's correct.
Q Were you made aware, while he was there, some

of the i1ssues he was having at Springbrook?

A I was.

0 And you agree that this particular program,
as far as you understood it, they specialized with

autism; 1is that correct?

A That's correct.
0 And it was a residential program,
obviously --

A It was.

Q -- because he was up 1n South Carolina. But
even while he was there, were you aware that he had
attacked the staff?

A I was.

0 Physically attacked them?

A I was.

Q Were you aware that he was head-butting
staff?

A I was aware.

0 And I think he had punched the doctor
multiple times?

A I was aware.

0 Aware of that, as well.

Throwing chairs, other objects?
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A I was aware.
0 Okay. And then you, as a family, decided to
place him in ECHO when insurance would no longer let

him stay at Springbrook; is that right?

A Correct.

0 And he moved into ECHO, you said, November of
20207

A Correct.

0 And I think you indicated the plan was that
was going to be a short-term placement with the hope of
him coming home; 1s that right?

A That's -- that's correct.

0 Okay. But he ultimately, obviously, lived at
ECHO from September of 2020 until, what, February,
March of '237

A That's correct.

Q Okay. And were you aware that while he was
at ECHO, he continued to have problems with aggression?

A Well, it was an intensive behavioral group
home, so I would expect him to have issues there.

Q Okay. Were you aware that he attacked other
residents?

A I was aware that there were fights that
happened. And most of that was -- happened in the very

beginning when he first got there.
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Q Okay. So were you aware 1n late August of
2022 that he had attacked a housemate physically, and

that it required attention from the nurse, the other

housemate?
A No, I was not aware of that.
Q Okay. Were you aware at -- in the end of

August 2022 that he was groping female staff
inappropriately?

A I -- so what T had heard about that situation
1s that he touched a female staff in the car, I think,
and said something along the lines of she was pretty or
something like that.

Q Right.

He touched her three different times on the
way to school?

A I mean, I wasn't aware of how many times, but
I was aware that he had touched her in the car as they
were driving to school. And he said that she was
pretty or something like that.

0 And then in March of 2022, he had ripped the
door off of a wall and charged at staff. Were you
aware of that?

A No.

Q All right. So fair to say that his

aggressive behavior was continuing well into his stay
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at ECHO; is that right?

A According to what you're reading, but yes,
that he -- but again, 1t was an intensive behavioral
group home where APD had determined, around December,
that he no longer met being a level six and that was a
level five. So he was definitely showing progress in
that APD determined that he was no longer a level six,
he was a level five.

0 And you said that while he was staying at
ECHO, your family, I think it was you and your husband,
would take turns and see your son about twice a month;
is that right?

A Correct.

Q But you all never brought him home to visit?
It was always you coming here?

A That's correct.

0 And why was that?

A I asked him. I wanted him to come home and
spend a couple of weeks with us in the summertime,
because I was hoping that that would be a good
transition to start bringing him home. I requested it
of Brendan, but Brendan was afraid that it would make
him too emotional to come home and then turn around and
have to go back.

Q Now, vyou --
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A And --
Q -— had -- I'm sorry.
A I'm sorry.
Q You would agree that Brendan does not have

any 1ssues with drugs and alcohol; is that right?
A He does not.
Q Right.
He doesn't use any type of --
A He does not.
-—- drugs?
Other than medications he's supposed to be

taking from the doctors, he --

A Correct.

Q -- doesn't use drugs?
A That's correct.

Q Doesn't abuse alcohol?
A No, he doesn't.

Okay. And I know that you have tried to do
some research for yourself to find placement for him --

A That's —-

0 -— correct?
A -— correct.
0 And I think you mentioned two facilities.

One was Flyland?
A Flyland.
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0 Flyland. Okay.

A Yes.

0 And you would agree that Flyland is primarily
treatment for drug addiction?

A No. I thought so, too. And when I reached
out to my insurance company for things that they were
sending me --

0 Uh-huh.

A -- and I said, you know, most of what you're
sending me is saying drug abuse and addiction. And
they're like, no. They all have -- all the ones that
we're sending you and these places, they have a whole
mental health portion that's separate from that. So I
verified that there was a mental health track that had
nothing to do with addiction.

0 Okay.

MS. CLARK: Your Honor, can I have the podium?
THE COURT: Yes. There you go.
MS. CLARK: Hold on.
THE WITNESS: And they do, I think, have --
MS. CLARK: Just give me one second. I don't
have a question. I'm just trying to get my computer --
Okay.
BY MS. CLARK:

Q Okay. So I looked up Flyland. You would
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less,

Q

see right here,

A

Q
A

Q

agree that this is the facility that you had

discovered?
A Well, Flyland has multiple facilities.
Q Right.
They have one in Florida and, I think --
A Uh-huh.
Q -- one out --
A Yeah, I can tell --
Q -— out of state.
A -— you the exact name if you need the exact

name of the place.

No. My question to you 1s, because we can

Beach, Okeechobee, and then something out in

California, Pompano Beach, correct?

Uh-huh.
That's your understanding?
Yes.

Okay. And so I'm looking at their website.

When you look at their treatment, and they say what

drug treatment?

A

Q
A

I can't see the screen from here.
There should be one right in front of you.

It's not showing on 1t.

they have one in Boca Raton, West Palm

they treat; you would agree that's listing off, more or
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0 I don't know why. Is 1t working?
A It's starting to come on.
Q Okay.
A It's coming up.
0 Let me know when 1t's up.
A Okay. Can I turn 1t?
0 Sure, if it turns.
A I guess not. I have to move. Okay.
Q Is it working?
A Uh-huh.
Q And so can you see where it says, Flyland

Recovery Network?

A I do see.

0 And then where it says, what we treat?
A Uh-huh.
Q And you would agree what's listed under there

is drug treatment and alcohol treatment?

A That is true.

Q Okay. And then you also would agree that
their facilities are not secure? What I mean, by that
is they don't have fencing around their facilities. If
a —— 1f a person wants to leave the facility, they just
walk out the door?

A Well, there would be staff there to stop

them.
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Q Right.
But there's no gates. There's —--
A Uh-huh.
Q -- no barbed wire. It 1s not a secure
facility; 1s that correct?
A I don't know enough to tell you all the
details of their facility. But we do have the rep on

the Zoom. If you would like to ask the rep, he's on

there.
0 I'm asking you because you researched it.
A Uh-huh.
0 And so my question to you is, this is not a

secure facility, 1s 1t?

A I was told that it was a top of the level for
residential, that I was told that it would meet his
needs for residential.

Q Again, were you told 1t was a secure
facility?

A I was told that it was a top of the line for

residential.
Q Okay. You're not answering my question.
A I'm answering 1t the best I can.

0 Okay. In looking at their video where they
show their facilities, we can clearly see their

facilities are not gated. Would you agree?
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A I can't see the facility.

0 Is it playing a video for you?

A No, it's not. Now it's -- it's kind of like
-— there's no, like, picture of the outside. And this
is California.

0 No, I know. Previously it was the Florida --

A Yeah, no --

Q -- facilities.

A -— I -- I don't know which building we're
looking at, because I think we're looking at multiple
different places. I see a wall.

Q And with Onyx, which can you see on your
screen in front of you?

A I do.

0 Okay. This is the Onyx that you had looked
into; 1s that right?

A That's correct.

0 Okay. And you would agree that this facility
is also not a gated facility?

A I don't know that.

Q Okay. Now, when you talked about Brendan
when he was younger, I got the impression early on, you
didn't necessarily agree with some of the, I guess you
called them labels, when he was being diagnosed with

different things?
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A I don't know that I didn't agree with them.
I -—- as an occupational therapist, our goal was always
to treat clients with what their individual strengths
and needs were.

Q Uh-huh.

A As -- as a professional, I am not about
labels. And I did not want him to have a label that
followed him throughout any kind of documentation and
-— and insurance companies and everything else. I was
more about getting to the bottom of what he needed and
working on what he needed.

Q And so you were resistant to some of the
diagnoses because you were afraid that that would be
labeling him. Is that a fair statement?

A That's fair.

0 Okay. And I also got the impression, from
your testimony with Mr. Teifke, that you were hesitant
about medications, as well?

A I was.

Q That you didn't necessarily think that the
medications were the best thing for him?

A I was -- wasn't hesitant about all
medications, but his high -- the high dose psychiatric
medications that have lots of side effects, a lot of

the same side effects of the drugs, as far as what
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they're supposed to treat, it can also cause the same
exact thing. So something that's supposed to treat
anxiety can cause anxiety. Something that's supposed
to treat depression can cause hallucinations.
So all these drugs have side effects that I

was concerned with.

0 And I'm assuming that this would just be you,
I guess, Googling the drug and reading for yourself
what possible side effects would be; 1s that right?

A That, and then when I would get pamphlets.
So, you know, I would get pamphlets. Like, we -- we
actually got the Abilify. And I read on there that it
could cause all kinds of major neurological issues.
And so after reading that and seeing that I was
managing him through structure and through having a
behavior plan that we followed at home and having him
where he knew what his day was going to be like and I
was there with him with homeschool families, I didn't
feel at that time I needed to put him on that kind of
medication when he was young. Because I was managing
it.

0 But fair to say, as time went on, your
ability to manage i1t wasn't working?

A And that's when I put him on the medication.

Q And again, you would agree that as time went
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on, you, as a family, couldn't manage Brendan?

A We couldn't agree with all the chaos and --
and the crisis that was going on 1n my house with my
mother and my daughter and then eventually my husband's
heart attack.

Q Well, I would assume, as a mother, to make a

decision to send your child to live --

A Uh-huh.

Q -— multiple states away --

A Uh-huh.

Q -- 1n a mental hospital would probably be a

difficult one, a —--

A It was extreme --

Q -- desperate one?

A It was extremely difficult. And I didn't
expect 1t to be a year. I expected it to be a few
months, not a year.

Q But I would assume, as a mother, that it's
almost out of desperation that you would have to send
him so far because you couldn't do it at home, you
couldn't handle him anymore. Is that a fair statement?

A And that we had to send him so far away
because the insurance companies didn't have anything
local. And I was struggling with my daughter having

had brain surgery and my mother going through
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pancreatic cancer.

0 I'm not discounting --
A Uh-huh.
0 Please don't think that. I'm not discounting

that you had --

A But I --

Q -- a lot going --

A -- want to --

Q -- on.

A -- make sure it's -- that it's known that

it's not him. If this had not been going on, I could
have managed him. I couldn't manage him because of
everything else outside of him. It was not, I couldn't
manage him i1f we hadn't gone through this.

0 I know you said your husband at some point
had a heart attack. When was that?

A Yeah. He had a heart attack in September of
2020.

0 Okay. So during the pandemic?

A Yes.

0 And thankfully, I -- I believe, he fully
recovered; 1s that right?

A He did.

0 And so after he recovered from his heart

attack, Brendan, though, still remains at ECHO --
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A Uh-huh.
Q -—- correct?
A Correct. We -- well, I mean, 1t was a period

of recovery that he was —--

Q Sure.

A -- you know, going through cardiac rehab and
medications and having to wear a machine. So we went
through a long period of the recovery.

Q You would agree that didn't take three years?

A Brendan wasn't there for three years.

0 Brendan moves in September of 2020. And he

is —--
A No.
Q -- discharged -- into ECHO?
A No.
0 In November --
A November.
Q -- of 2020.
A

Yeah, November of 2020.
0 And then discharged after this incident in

February of --

A Correct.

Q -- '23?

A Yes.

Q And you said your husband had his heart
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attack in September of --
A Uh-huh.
-- 2020.
Uh-huh.

So we're talking about several years --

Q

A

Q

A Right.
Q -—- that go by --

A Right.

Q -—- but Brendan doesn't return home?

A I offered -- first of all, I wanted to do a
step down procedure to where Brendan would start coming
to our house and spending, you know, weeks during the
summer and things like that with us so that we could
transition to Brendan being home. I had offered --
Brendan didn't want to do that because Brendan was
afraid it would be too hard for him to come and go. I
offered to find him a group home closer to us so that
we could spend more time together as a family. He
didn't want to do that.

He wanted to stay at Matanzas High School. He
wanted to graduate Matanzas High School. It wasn't
because we didn't want Brendan closer to home. Brendan
wanted to be there at Matanzas.

Q And you had mentioned that you found

placement in a group home somewhere in the Tampa area?
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A I did.
Q And this group home, 1s this similar to ECHO?
A It is.
Q In what way?
A It's an intensive behavioral group home.
0 And what level?
A He -- they can take a level six.
Q And was there a reason why you didn't place

Brendan there back in 20207

A I didn't know about them. And they weren't
available back then. Back then there were -- so like
what happens is, when they're looking for a group home,
they put out -- APD puts out a statement to all the
group homes who has availability, who has a bed. There
were only a couple of places that had a bed, and ECHO
was one of them. They interviewed Brendan, and they
took him. T never wanted Brendan across the state. I
would have much rather have been able to see Brendan
weekly.

Q And you would agree that your son, Brendan, I
think you had mentioned that when he was younger, 1is

very intelligent? He was reading --

A Uh-huh.
Q -- at a young age?
A Uh-huh.
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) Is that a yes, ma'am?
A Yes, it --
Q Okay.
A -— 1is.
Q And I apologize, but we have to make sure

to —-

A I'm sorry.
Q -- get 1t on the record. That's okay.

young man;

A

Q
A

Q

A

Q
A

Q

A

Q

A

weaknesses.

age of four, he was reading, writing --

four-year-

through homeschooling academically?

So he sounds like he's a very intelligent
is that correct?

He had his strengths along with his

Sure. I think everybody does.
Uh-huh.

But my impression from you was, even at the

Uh-huh.

—-— sentences.

He was.

Which you would agree is atypical for a
old?

Yes. I think that he's twice exceptional.

Okay. And he always did well with you

Correct.
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0 And even when he transitioned eventually to
Matanzas, the public school, academically, he was doing
pretty well?

A I think that he was, like, behind a lot, and
I think he needed a lot of prompting. From my
understanding, he frequently had -- he would avoid
doing his work. He would put his head down and go to
sleep. Some of that could have been the medications
that he was on that made him real sleepy. So he
frequently would lay his head down, or he would avoid
doing the work. He was behind.

He did well in a computer class, but in the
rest of the classes, 1n his IEP, they stated that he
was behind in his work. And we were thinking 1t was
going to probably take him another year or two just to
get caught up from being behind.

Q And you mentioned the computer class. He was
actually in a mainstream, I think, advanced computer

class; 1s that correct?

A Right.
Q Yes. Because again, he is an intelligent
young man. That was not so -- as --

A Well, yeah, but that's --
-— much of a concern?

A -- one of his strengths.
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Q Okay. And you had mentioned when he was at
ECHO, that they would have periodic, I don't know 1if
they were meetings or what have you with the
psychiatrist; is that correct?

A That's correct.

0 And then ECHO participated i1n those meetings,
but you didn't necessarily --

A That's —--

0 -— participate?

A -— correct. Because 1t was how they did the
telehealth. And he was physically there, and I wasn't.

0 Okay. So you didn't participate in the --
the, I guess, progress meetings with the psychiatrist
while he was at ECHO?

A No, I did not. But that, again, I said it
was a telehealth, and I was physically over on the
other side of the state. I always talked to Donna
before and afterwards, but being there on the call, T

was not on the call.

Q Okay.
A If there was ever an issue, we would ask --
you know, I would -- I would call the psychiatrist and

set up the call.
MS. CLARK: All right. Thank you. I don't

have any other questions.
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THEREUPON,

Q
A
Q
A

Q

you work?

THE COURT: Mr. Teifke, any redirect?

MR. TEIFKE: No redirect.

THE COURT: All right.

You may step down. Thank you.

Mr. Teifke, you may call your next witness.
MR. TEIFKE: Eugene Lopes.

THE CLERK: Can you raise your right hand?

Do you swear or affirm the testimony you're

about to give 1s the truth, the whole truth, and

nothing but the truth, so help you God?

THE WITNESS: Yes, I do.

FEUGENE LOPES,

and testified as follows:

THE COURT: All right. You may proceed.
MR. TEIFKE: Thank you, Judge.

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. TEIFKE:

Can you state your name, please?
Eugene Lopes.

And where do you reside, sir?

I reside in Palm Coast.

Okay. And what do you do? What -- where do

called by the Defense as a witness, was duly sworn
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A I am a retired special education teacher.
Q Okay. How long have you been retired?
A I've been retired for four years now.
Q Four years.
A Uh-huh.
0 How long did you do that?

A I -- I taught in the public schools for a
little bit less than 30 years. I also was adjunct
professor -- professor at Kean University in New Jersey
for 20 years.

0 Okay. How did you first become involved with
Brendan? I'm assuming you know him.

A Well, I didn't know him before. I -- I got
to know Brendan -- I -- I became involved the same way
pretty much everyone in this room has, 1s that I saw
the video. And personally, I had the same visceral
reaction to 1t as everyone else.

Q And you've had a chance to work with Brendan

since, correct?

A That's correct.
0 We'll talk about some more specifics 1in a
mandatory. But just a little more on your -- your

chops, your educational background. Explain a little
more.

A Okay. I have a BA and teacher of the
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handicapped is what it was called when I got it in the
-- in 1993.

0 Okay.

A I have an MA in special education with a
specialty in learning facilities. Again, I taught for
20 years at Kean University. And there I thought
graduate -- undergraduate classes for people who were
going into the field of special education, or who were
already teaching and wanting to become special ed
teachers.

Q What is your interest in special education
from -- from the start? It sounds like you enjoy the
challenge.

A Absolutely. I -- I think like, you know,
anything in life, we get into positions. And people --
people look at it as a challenge. I enjoy it
immensely. But I will tell you that all of my
experience has really come from a personal standpoint.
I was a commodities broker making a very, very good
salary, and I hated every second of it. I had a friend
who had a child born. And when we went to the
hospital, he told us that his child was born with Down
Syndrome.

And if you believe in, you know, those moments

that give you highlight into where you should go, a
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week later, I sold my seat on the commodities exchange
and found a school to go to finish my college and
become a special education teacher.

Q Okay. Interesting.

So Bachelor's in Special Education, right,
and then Master's in Learning Disabilities?

A It's -- it -- yeah. 1It's -- 1t's special ed,
and then you get a -- learning disabilities was my, you
know, different places you could go.

Q Okay. We, as attorneys, have continuing
education requirements. Is there same?

A Yeah, absolutely. In New Jersey, we had a
requirement of 100 hours of training every five years.
And in -- or in -- 1n my district, we also had
meetings, department meetings, twice a month that were
specific to what we were doing as special educators.

Q Okay. And the CLE, the continuing education,
itself, was like an ala carte menu? You can pick what
you —-—

A Most -- mostly, that was -- that was things
that were -- that would be brought to us in the school.

Q Okay.

A The -- the -- the -- every school district in
New Jersey 1s required to provide 20 hours a year to

all their teachers. And so most of that was done in
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our 1in-service days. And -- and sometimes it involved
us being part of the gen ed. Because, as special
education teachers, we were working with both
populations, the gen ed and the special ed populations.
So we had this combination where we were doing a couple
different jobs.

Q Okay. Do you feel that your educational and
employment background equipped you well to engage with
Brendan?

A Oh, absolutely, absolutely. You know, I -- T
was -- I was actually part of the first school that, in
19, I want to say 94, we were the first school who
actually brought an autistic child back into district.
At the time, in the early nineties, autistic kids who
were classified, not that -- that there weren't
autistic kids in school, there were, but they weren't
classified as autistic. Were we the first school at
that time that brought an autistic child back into
district. And -- and it was an -- an -- an
enlightening moment.

Since then --

Q Uh-huh.

A -— you know, my -- my guess would be TI've
worked with, you know, 80 to a hundred students with

autism and then much, much more with different
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disabilities.

0 And viewed 1n retrospect, was your education
and the beginnings of your employment a good foundation
for this? Or I guess the -- let me ask this, if you
hadn't had that -- that specialized education and
employment and training, would you feel like you were
in a different place to be able to deal with this?

A Oh, completely. We --

Q How so0°7?

A The -- the -- the training we got was a broad
umbrella. And -- and so the way I like to look about
it -- look at i1t 1is you have professional
responsibility and you have professional curiosity.

The professional -- professional responsibility is, you
know, what's in your job description. You've go to do
this, this, this, and this, and these are all the
things there. Your professional curiosity is -- are
those things that aren't there, that you just all of a
sudden come on.

Particularly, when we first started bringing
autistic kids back into school, none of us had really

any experience with that population. So that curiosity

were -- was not always things that you were told --
0 Yeah.
A -- you know, get training on this. You just
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did 1t because it -- it -- 1t was 1interesting and, you
know, you needed it to do your job.

Q And I'm supposing somewhere along the way
there's people who realize that they simply don't have
that curiosity?

A Oh, you know, absolutely. And if you don't

have the -- if you don't have the curiosity, you --
you're -- you're not going to survive, you know, in
that -- in that setting.

Q Can you estimate how much time you've been

able to spend with Brendan since you've first engaged?

A Yeah. I -- I -- I was tryling, as -- as we
were thinking about i1t, you know, how many -- how many
hours. I started in November, the end of November --

Q Okay.

A -- last year. $So it's been seven-plus
months. You know, we had, you know, some hiccups 1in
there, but for the most part early on it was three days
a week for a minimum of two hours a day. I also —--
there were also weeks where I did five days a week when
-- on Fridays when there was no one there, I could stay
a little bit longer with him. So I mean, my guess 1is,
I -- I was -- I've been at the -- and the jail would
have the records of how many times I was in and out,

but --
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Q Sure.
A -—- my guess 1s I was at the -- the building

80 to a hundred days and probably spent somewhere

around 200 hours —--

Q Okay.
A -- (indiscernible).
Q Very good. And of course it's an estimate.

And we'll get into the weeds a little more as far as
what you actually did with him in a minute. But lastly
on that topic, 1s this compensated?

A No, no. This was not -- this -- this was all
voluntary. I -- I -- I'm guessing you'll ask me later
on, you know, about how it came about; but i1t's all
voluntary. And, you know, and -- and to be clear to --
to everyone here, I am not complaining, but it really
costs -- 1t costs me money to do it. And -- and it
also cost me opportunity, because I did -- I would
really love to be working in the Flagler school system
right now. And I -- and while I do sub there, and they
have been extremely generous 1n allowing me to do that,
knowing my involvement with Brendan --

Q Sure.

A -— I have applied for a couple of jobs that T
have, I believe I am highly qualified for; and a couple

of times I was offered positions that seemed to
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disappear, I think, after things were --

Q I see.

A -- you know, more information. And I -- and
which I understand from the standpoint of the district,
not knowing what --

Q Sure.

A --— I will say or --

0 Okay. Failr enough.

So Flagler County School District,
specifically, how -- historically, what i1s your

(indiscernible)?

A I -- I've been subbing there for the past two
years.

Q Okay.

A I did have a moment where I -- I was being --
I had been interviewed about Brendan. And -- and --

and so I was called in by Mike Rinaldi about it and,

you know, to -- you know, to make it clear that this
was -- I was an at-will employee.

Q Uh-huh.

A And Mr. Rinaldi was extremely generous with

his time, spent about an hour with me that day where we
talked over, you know, how I felt about Brendan and how
I felt about the school. And in the end, and I'm

paraphrasing him, he -- he felt that what I was doing
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was the best thing and what he would hope all of his
teachers would be doing in advocating for a student.

0 Well, just so I understand that, right,
excuse me, the two-year run up to February 2023, you
had been embedded in the Flagler schools as a sub?

A I —— I -— I had been a sub, yes. I —- 1
would work usually a couple days a week, two, tThree
days a week.

Q Okay. And so you'd get to know other

personnel, teachers —--

A Yes.

Q -— other subs --

A Yes.

Q —-— et cetera?

A Yes.

Q Okay.

A And -- and -- and I -- and I -- I would like

to say, too, that I am tremendously impressed by their

work ethic. They're -- they're -- you know, they are
overwhelmed. It's -- it's -- you know, I —-- I believe
the -- the school board would love to pay them what

they're worth. What I will say is that particularly
with -- T -- I -- T started to get more involved in
doing the self-contained classes, the special ed

classes. And I greatly enjoyed it to the point that
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with the para -- you get -- you get less money to be a
para subbing than you do for a teacher.

I became close enough with the paras that I
offered to sub for them for the less money, because a
lot of them were coming in when they were sick and
because they knew that -- that no -- people weren't
picking up the para jobs when there was a sub needed.

Q Okay. Resources are stretched pretty thin,
it sounds like?

A Yeah, yeah. You —--

0 Okay. So are you specifically working as a
sub exclusively with this subset of students, special
need or no-?

A No. I --— T -- 1 will -—- I will work in the
building. Whenever there is an opportunity for me to
be in the -- the special ed classes, I -- I actually
will jump on it. I have the -- the teachers and the
paras have my phone number and will often call me and
say that they're taking off, you know, in two weeks,

can I sub for them —-

Q I see.
A -— or would T be able to sub. And then we
would have to do a -- play a game of putting it in one

place where I catch it. And --

0 I see. Okay.
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So you've seen it from kind of both sides?
It's --
A I've seen -- I've seen the whole.
0 Okay. Are there special challenges 1in
dealing with special education students?
A Absolutely. And -- and -- and you have -- 1t
-- 1it's -- it's why, you know, having the -- an IEP 1is

so important. What happens 1s, though, as a sub coming

in, you have to rely on -- you're walking into a room
with --

Q Sure.

A -- sometimes no idea about what's going on in

that classroom. And often in these special ed classes,
I would have -- the teachers would leave me notes to

say, talk to the -- talk to Sandy, you know, she's

the --

Q Uh-huh.

A -- when she was a para. FEach class had a --
one para that was in the class at all -- you know, talk

to Sandy, she'll fill you in on, you know, on what kids
-— because there's -- you know, special ed has -- the
confidentiality of special ed is a -- 1s a sacred
thing, particularly being someone who lives in the
community. So but you don't want to be blindsided by a

kid that you shouldn't, you know, put even a comforting
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hand on, that that would set that kid off. So --
Q Okay. Let's define some things here. So

when you say para, we're talking about

paraprofessional?

A Paraprofessional.

Q And --

A Yeah.

Q -- based on you -- how long you've been doing
this and what you've seen, what do you -- what do you

see as the role there?

A The para -- the paraprofessional, I -- I
would say that -- and I -- and I believe I was a very
successful teacher over -- and left with a very good

reputation. And I would say the paraprofessionals are,
with our more difficult students, are the backbone to
how i1t works. They are with those students the entire
day. You know, for instance, when Brendan would go to
another class -- you know, when I would -- when -- and
I had students 1like that, they would go to different
classes, but the paraprofessional would remain.

So those are the people who had the most
information on that student, had the most day-to-day
contact, minute-to-minute contact, would eat lunch with
them. So -- so the most knowledgeable about -- when

they're a one-on-one para, the most knowledgeable about
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that student.
Q Okay. And is there -- excuse me. Is there

plenty of information on offer for the para?

A Yes. The -- the -- you know, a para should,
number one should see the goal -- should understand the
goals and objections. There are -- there are a number

of parts to an IEP. Some of them are confidential and
don't get shared with the para, and that's more of the
background information; but there are things, like
goals and objectives, you know, what -- and -- and
that's more the educational part of it. You know,
because that para 1s working one-on-one with that
student, they need to know what the goals are. And the
behavior plan is what the paraprofessional is going to
be mostly responsible for keeping intact, doing.

0 That's kind of the toolkit, itself --

A Yeah.

0 -- right, the -- the behavior plan?

All right. The IEPs, let's talk about that

a little bit. You're familiar with these, obviously

having been --

A Yeah.

Q -- doing what you --
A I — 1 --

0 -— do?
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A I -- T would guess that -- that over the
years, I probably were involved in 1,500 IEPs and 800,
maybe more, IEP meetings.

0 So okay. The generation of the IEP, itself,
you're --

A The -- the --

Q -—- boots on the ground?

A The teacher who 1s responsible, 1f I was
teaching a student in science, I would be responsible
for that part of it.

Q Sure.

A And in each one, 1n science, there would also
be behavioral goals in there, that as the teacher, T
would be responsible. So at the end of the year -- 1T
-— let -- let me just -- initially, an IEP team with
the parents put the IEP together. Once the teacher is
involved, now the teacher and -- has the most knowledge
of that student. So it is the teacher who writes the
goals and objectives and works with the child study
team to put together an inclusive behavior plan.

Because sometimes there's -- like, in -- in
Brendan's, Brendan's has 25 things in his behavior
plan. And that's a lot for a teacher or a para to keep
track of. So you try to -- you try to make sure

there's not stuff in there that's not necessary.
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Q So the IEP 1s a means by which to not only
optimize educational achievement, but also behavior; is
that fair?

A Yes. And -- and 1it's important that -- that
-— I think this sometimes gets lost in the general
public, an IEP is a legal document. It is a document
that, as a teacher, I sign that IEP saying, I am going
to follow this as is. And i1f I think there's something
wrong with it, I have to go back to the child study
team, who has to go back to the parent or guardian and
say, we want to amend this, we want to fix this.
There's -- there's something in here that's not
working.

Or I can't just unilaterally change that.

Q It's a requirement of federal law itself,

right?

A Yes, yes.

0 All right. The I in IEP, individualized --
A Individualized.
Q -— right?
It has to be narrowly tailored to the person
-- the kid?
A Correct.

0 All right. And that takes into account lots

of information; is that fair?
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A Yes. And -- and information that, you know,
goes back years. It's -- it's not like, you know,
while -- while -- an -- an IEP is a living document.

We call it as living document because 1t can be changed
at any point. And it's always one of the things at an
IEP meeting when you're talking to a parent who maybe a
little uncomfortable with something in there, you --
you make sure that they understand that this is can be
changed. Right now this 1s what we believe, but it --
it's not in here forever. There's not -- 1it's not in
permanent ink. You follow me?

0 Yeah.

In your experience, how successful can

students be when the IEP is designed well and followed?

A Designed well, followed, and modified when --

Q Uh-huh.

A -- needed; it -- it -- it -- look, 1t's been
around for -- we -- we've had that, this law in place,
for 25 years. About 20 -- no, more. I'm sorry. And

we're going to be closing in on 50 years, it's 1975.
SO —-

Q I'm sorry, you said we have what in place
for —--

A The -- the law.

0 The --
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A The law.

Q Oh, I'm sorry, I didn't catch the word.

A Oh, I'm sorry.

Q Okay.

A Yeah, the law has been --

Q Okay.

A -- 1n place for -- and this part of it, the

IEP part of it, hasn't changed in all that time. For a
reason, 1t works. And it works when we -- when we are
diligent about following 1t and diligent about making
changes when necessary and that we don't go off and
just say, well, let me try this, no, let me try that.
And -- and as someone who, you know, has gotten caught
a couple of times, you know, when you try to do the
right thing, i1t blows up in your face. So it --
there's a reason.

And the success rate, it -- it doesn't -- you
know, nothing works a hundred percent. But I can tell
you that for me, personally, the majority of my

students went to college, worked jobs.

Q So you've tracked some of these —-- these —-
A I —— I am —-

Q -- stories?

A I have -- I have one student I talk to almost

every day, who I had, who he's 32 now. I have another
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student who, you know, called me a month ago to let me
know that her boyfriend had broken up with her and that
she was upset and she just wanted to talk to me. I --
I -- I am in touch with a number of my students, even
though I've been retired for quite awhile now.

0 Okay. Okay. When we talk about disability,
that's a pretty big intent. More specifically to these
circumstances, have you had any experience with
autistic children?

A Yes, yes. So and like I said, earlier, I --
you know, I -- 1in 1994 was the first time we were
introduced in public schools to having autistic
children in the schools. But since then, you know, my
-—- my last couple years teaching here, I've probably
had more autistic children in my classes than -- than
not.

Q Do you find that it -- it often overlaps with
other disorders?

A Yes. And -- and 1t -- it's -- it's just a,
you know, and -- and you can see 1t's often not the
autism that is the most debilitating part of, you know,
debilitating aspect of that -- that person, 1t can be
the comorbid circumstances that come in. And attention
-— attention deficit disorder, ADHD, emotional 1issues.

You know, there's -- there's -- sometimes, I -- I
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think, you know, the greatest -- the greatest quote
I've ever heard about autism, and apologize for not
remembering the person's name who said it was that,
when you've met one person with autism, you've met one
person with autism.

Q All right.

A And it's because 1t -- 1t is not -- we -- we
try to -- even using that umbrella term, you know, the
-— 1n the spectrum disorder --

Q -- sure.

A -— 1t doesn't work because, you know, there's
millions of different ways we can go 1nside of that.

Q You've —-- you're probably aware that Brendan
also has been diagnosed along the way with disruptive
mood dysregulation disorder, intermittent explosive
disorder. You mentioned ADHD. You'wve also had
experlience 1n your career and learning path with those
disorders, as well?

A I —— I will be honest, the explosive disorder

was the first time I had heard it.

Q Oh.
A But I -- I have had students who have had,
you know, clearly behavioral issues that -- that

impacted their ability to learn and their ability

sometimes to be in a classroom.
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Q When, in your experience, are things most
likely to go awry when you're dealing with someone that
has disability, be 1t on numerous fronts or a single
disability, to the extent that that is a thing? Where

are things most likely to go off the rails in your

experience?

A You -- you know -- you know, it -- 1t -- most
likely when -- well, I'll -- I'll say early on in the
-- when -- when we first get introduced, when we don't

know the person that well. And then when we stray from
what we are supposed to be doing. When we -- we -- we
take paths that are a little bit different. Again, you
know, doing things for the right reason --

Q Right.

A -- you know, with the -- with the -- the

right goals. And, you know, with the hopes and the --

Q Right.

A -- dreams, that -- that's when -- when we --
we move -—-

0 Yeah.

A -—- off and -- and that's when things kind of

can fall off the rails on it.

Q And I'm imagining it's a temptation of sorts.
I mean --
A It's --

@ ESQUIRE 800.211.DEPO (3376)

DEROSITION SOLUTIONS EsquireSolutions.com

August 06, 2024
281




oy O W N

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

APPEAL SENTENCING HEARING Continued August 06, 2024

SOF V. BRENDAN DEPA 282

Q --— look, I think in this situation this 1is
going to work, but it's just not in the IEP, it's not a
suggested approach?

A Yes.

0 It's got to be tempting.

A Yes. And -- and -- and it i1s -- it 1s why we
-— 1n -- in the -- you know, 1in special ed why the
personal connection 1s -- 1s so important.

0 Personal connection, you said --

A A personal connection with the student.

Q Sure.

A That -- that when you have that personal
connection, you -- you learn. And -- and then it
doesn't mean that you can change things. Again, that
means you go back and say, you know, I'd like to try
this with whoever. But you -- you need to talk to your
teammates, who -- who you work with that student, the
child's study team, the parents. It's a -- 1it's not a
simple process -- process where one day you go, WOW,
I've got a great idea.

And having burnt by that great idea more than
once --

Q Right.

A -— I -- I will tell you, it's never a great

idea.
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0 Okay. Okay. How do you feel, 1if at all,
that your understanding of autism, or any of these
comorbid conditions, a view -- affects how you view
behavior? Does it affect 1t?

A Personally, for me?

Q Yeah. As opposed to —--

A Oh.

0 -— someone like me who has no knowledge of
the subject matter viewing the --

A Again, this --

0 -- same thing here.

A -— goes back, this really goes back to the
curiosity part, that, you know -- you know, when you --
when you come up, again, with something -- and, you

know, 1it's like anything, you know, in any profession,
when you come up against something you haven't seen
before, 1t's the curiosity that should drag you in.
And i1it's the -- the -- that part of it that -- that
helps you to pinpoint what will work, what won't work,
what I need to stay away from. I mean, 1it's usually
staying away from things that are more important that,
you know, getting close.

And but -- but when you start injecting your
own feelings into —--

0 Uh-huh.

@ ESQUIRE 800.211.DEPO (3376)

DEROSITION SOLUTIONS EsquireSolutions.com



oy O W N

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

APPEAL SENTENCING HEARING Continued August 06, 2024

SOF V. BRENDAN DEPA 284
A -— that without vetting 1it, 1t becomes a
problem.
0 Have you ever been on the wrong end of

student behavior?
A At a number of times. And I've -- I've been
spit on. I've been kicked. 1I've been punched. TI've

been called fat a couple times. And I've thinned out.

But I've also -- you know, I've also been -- I've been
bit. I -- I -- I had an incident where I was walking
-— I was -- I wasn't even doing anything with -- T was

helping the student in that he was having a very
difficult time just getting to the bus, and so I would
walk him out to the bus. And all of a sudden, I feel
on my arm, and I 1ift up and the kid i1s hanging from my
arm having bitten. That meant six months where the

school district required me to go for HIV testing --

Q Uh-huh.
A -- because the kid broke my skin. And, you
know, and -- and it wasn't for any reason. I was just

walking alongside him.

Q Right.

A Yeah, so 1t -- it happens. Computers thrown
at me, you know.

0 And I guess this might close the loop on my

last question, what you -- how you just answered, but
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does your knowledge going into that of special needs
inform how you react to that?

A Oh, I --

Q Because I can tell you, someone like me, T
have a certain predictable reaction.

A Yeah, yeah. And -- and -- and in -- in those
circumstances, it i1s so important to -- to kind of go
back into your training. And -- and 1t doesn't come
automatic. You know, when somebody -- when a kid 1s
hanging from your arm, it's not automatic that you --
that you don't want to, like, slap and say, get off;
but in that case, I had a walkie-talkie with me, too,
and where I was able to call the principal and say, Ed,
we might -- we have a little issue out here. But not
escalate it. That is -- that i1s the thing you want to
avold at all costs. Don't escalate.

Q Training and experience matter there?

A Absolutely.

Q Now, 1n your experience when the right
approach is taken, and the -- the people engaging with

these students employ the right approach, can it work

and that be --
A It -- it —-
0 —-— successful?
A It -- it —-
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0 How much can it be modulated?
A It -- it -- it works. Does it work a hundred
percent of the time? No. Because we -- we can't

anticipate everything that --

Q Of course.
A -- that -- that -- that might happen. And --
and -- and we are, you know -- people have this

impression of special ed teachers as some sort of above

the fold, but we're people. We like what we do. We --

we love what we do. You know, so when it goes -- when
we move -- when things happen, it's falling back on the
experience and just making sure that -- that you don't

make it worse.

Q Okay. Let's talk about Brendan specifically.
You first met him when?

A I first met Brendan in November of last year.

Q Okay.

A And just as a very quick back story, like
everyone else, when I saw the video, I was appalled. I
had a visceral reaction to it. And I've told Brendan
this, and I have told his mother this, that I -- my
initial response was pretty much the same as everyone
-- everyone, that how -- how can this happen.

And then I'm guessing a month, six weeks after
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